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[1] Highlights of the Year

There were many highlights for the Council during 2011–12.

· The Council published three major reports providing advice sought by the Attorney-General on:

· the establishment of a statutory minimum sentencing scheme for offences involving gross violence

· aspects of the adult parole system

· the establishment of a baseline sentencing scheme.

· We published four detailed statistical research reports that provide valuable, previously unavailable data and analysis on:

· sentencing severity for ‘serious’ and ‘significant’ offences

· current sentencing practices for the offences of intentionally causing serious injury and recklessly causing serious injury

· sentence appeals in the Court of Appeal

· sentencing children and young people.

· We produced 14 issues of our flagship Sentencing Snapshots series covering offences in the higher courts.

· In response to changing legal and technical environments, the Council carried out a statistics user needs assessment, consulting with a wide range of people and organisations that use the statistics we publish.

· We published a report on a series of community panels conducted by the Council to examine attitudes to the relative seriousness of a range of offences.

· As part of our work on public opinion on sentencing, we released three reports canvassing community views on crime, the courts and sentencing in Victoria. 

· For the first time, the Council’s policy reports (on gross violence offences and baseline sentencing) contained detailed analysis of the potential effects of policy changes on the number of people in custody. 

· The Council’s website received over 65,000 visits in 2011–12, a 32% increase on the previous year.

We welcomed four new directors to the Council Board. 

[2] Chair’s Foreword

In March of this year the first national gathering of Australian Sentencing Advisory Councils was held in Brisbane, hosted by the Queensland Sentencing Advisory Council. It was attended by representatives of councils in New South Wales, Victoria, Tasmania and Queensland and covered issues such as research projects and priorities, relevant audiences for council publications, sentencing statistics and their use, cooperation between councils, gauging community attitudes, relations with the media and inter-agency cooperation.

The meeting was most productive and, it was hoped, marked an important development in the role of such councils in the sentencing policy landscape in Australia. In August 2011, the Northern Territory Government announced the establishment of a sentencing council as an advisory body to better inform the government on sentencing trends, and in February 2012 the South Australian Government also announced a new advisory group for sentencing. The South Australian Council has just begun operations, but the fact that almost every state government has established, or has considered establishing, a non-political, inclusive community body to provide independent advice, information and a forum for consultation with the public is evidence of the need to ensure that decisions about sentencing policy are informed, considered and arrived at after a process of engagement with interested parties. 

Unlike similar bodies in the United Kingdom and the United States, which are primarily concerned with the creation or development of sentencing guidelines, Australian councils have as their focus community engagement, policy advice, analysis and dissemination of statistics and community education. Australia’s councils have pioneered a new and different role for sentencing advisory bodies and have demonstrated that there is more to sentencing than restricting or guiding judicial discretion.

Victoria’s You be the Judge program, in its various manifestations, is known and admired internationally, and the Sentencing Snapshots series has created new ways of understanding sentencing practices and has informed and transformed judicial decision-making in this state.

[3] It was thus disappointing to learn, in May of this year, that the Queensland Sentencing Advisory Council had been abolished by the recently elected Liberal National Party government before the Council had had a chance to establish itself properly. The Council had already provided the government with substantial reports and was establishing a number of valuable statistical databases.

This annual report details the extensive work undertaken by the Victorian Sentencing Advisory Council over the past year. As the Chief Executive Officer, Stephen Farrow, notes, the Council has published a large number of reports covering very contentious and difficult issues such as appeals, parole, statutory minimum sentences and baseline sentencing. It continues to expand its statistical services and provide information regarding current sentencing practices.

The Council has no executive powers: it can only inform and advise to the best of its ability. It is for governments, its agencies and the courts to decide how to respond to our reports and the recommendations they contain. Although we cannot be sure of the outcomes of our advice, we can be sure that the policy development process is the better for it. 

The work of the Council is the product of the directors and the secretariat, who have continued to work energetically and harmoniously. Under the leadership of Stephen Farrow, the Council runs effectively and efficiently, and I thank him, on behalf of the directors, for his professionalism and commitment to the work of the Council.

Finally, I also wish to thank the recently retired Secretary of the Department of Justice, Ms Penny Armytage, for her support of the Council since its inception and for her recognition of the Council’s role as an independent statutory authority. From an appropriate distance she has provided it with sufficient funding to maintain its pre-eminent position in Australia, with support for staff and for the comprehensive Department of Justice infrastructure that ensures the Council is considered an important part of the overall criminal justice framework in Victoria.

Professor Arie Freiberg
Chair

[4] CEO’s Report

It is with great pleasure that I present the Sentencing Advisory Council’s report of operations for 2011–12 under section 45(1)(b) of the Financial Management Act 1994 (Vic).

This year has been an exceptionally productive one for the Council. It has involved the publication of nine research papers and reports, totalling over 1,000 pages.

These include three reports to the Attorney-General on major and complex policy issues relating to statutory minimum sentences, baseline sentencing and the adult parole system. For the first time, reports contained detailed advice about the likely effect of recommendations on sentencing levels and prisoner numbers. This is a significant new aspect of the Council’s work. The Council’s ability to provide such advice is the product of investments that the Council has made in recent years to expand its databases by collecting additional data from sentencing remarks in the higher courts and to continue to develop the skills and expertise of Council staff. 

During the year the Council also published four detailed statistical research papers. These papers demonstrate the strength of the Council in integrating legal and statistical analysis and consultation.

The Council also maintained its ongoing program of publishing key information about particular offences in its Sentencing Snapshots series, releasing 14 new Snapshots.

While producing a particularly large volume of material in the past year, the Council has worked hard to maintain high standards of quality and accuracy. We have also consulted with stakeholders as widely as possible within the constraints of the time and resources available to us. The Council greatly appreciates the time and energy of many people and organisations in making submissions to us and in contributing at our roundtables, forums and other consultation meetings. 

[5] The high level of interest in the Council’s work is reflected in the number of visits to the Council’s website. There were over 65,000 visits this year, an increase of 32% from the previous year.

Throughout the year, the Council continued to invest resources in development and innovation. We conducted a detailed assessment of the needs of those who use our statistical publications, to ensure that we can provide maximum public value with those publications. We have also expanded the range and scope of our statistical databases and have invested in staff training and development. 

The many achievements listed in this annual report are a testament to the hard work and skills of the staff of the Council in conducting research, analysing data, consulting with stakeholders, preparing papers and providing assistance to the Council’s Board of Directors. It is a privilege to lead such an enthusiastic and talented team, and I thank each member of staff for their contributions over the past year. 

I would like to note my particular thanks to the Council’s long-serving operations manager Prue Boughey, who left the Council early in 2012. Prue had worked for the Council since its creation in 2004 and was instrumental in establishing many of the arrangements that are fundamental to the smooth running of the organisation. I have greatly valued her advice and support in relation to financial, staffing and other administrative and operational issues.

The Council benefits from the cooperation of many parts of the Department of Justice. In particular, I would like to express my gratitude to Dr Graham Hill, Executive Director Courts, for his support and advice. The Business Intelligence area of the Courts and Tribunals unit of the Department of Justice, the Courtlink unit of the Magistrates’ Court and Corrections Victoria have continued to assist us with access to data for our analyses and publications. We are also grateful for the work of the Council’s Audit and Finance Committee, which ensures that we are in compliance with the relevant statutory and other governance requirements.

Finally, I would like to thank the Board of Directors of the Council. They have provided strategic direction and have read and commented on an enormous volume of draft papers and reports. I would particularly like to thank the Council’s Chair, Professor Arie Freiberg, for his exceptional energy and leadership. His expertise and his tireless commitment to the work of the Council continue to inspire us all. 

Stephen Farrow
Chief Executive Officer

[6] Functions and Objectives

Our Functions

The Sentencing Advisory Council is an independent statutory body that was established under Part 9A of the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic) in July 2004.

Our functions, as set out in section 108C(1) of that Act, are:

(a)
to state in writing to the Court of Appeal its views in relation to the giving, or review, of a guideline judgment;

(b)
to provide statistical information on sentencing, including information on current sentencing practices, to members of the judiciary and other interested persons;

(c)
to conduct research, and disseminate information to members of the judiciary and other interested persons, on sentencing matters;

(d)
to gauge public opinion on sentencing matters;

(e)
to consult, on sentencing matters, with government departments and other interested persons and bodies as well as the general public; and

(f)
to advise the Attorney-General on sentencing matters.

The Council was established to allow properly ascertained and informed public opinion to be taken into account in the criminal justice system on a permanent and formal basis. This is in part achieved through the membership of the Council, because it is comprised of people with a wide range of backgrounds, including those with broad community experience in issues affecting courts, as well as people who are police, legal practitioners, members of victim of crime support or advocacy groups and others with broad experience in the operation of the criminal justice system.

Our Mission

The Council’s mission is to:

Bridge the gap between the community, the courts and government by informing, educating and advising on sentencing issues.

The Council’s work revolves around providing sound evidence on which to base sentencing policies and practice, and increasing community confidence in those sentencing policies and practices.

Context of Our Role

The Council addresses a range of needs. These key needs are identified in Figure 1, which also notes the relationship between these key needs, our roles and statutory functions (with reference to the statutory functions set out in section 108C(1) of the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic)) and the benefits that flow from our work.

Our Guiding Principles

The Council has agreed on a set of guiding principles to underpin the way in which we carry out our functions. The objective is to ensure that our work is of the highest quality and that we maintain productive and responsive relationships with our stakeholders.

The Council is committed to: 

· demonstrating integrity through evidence-based information and advice; 

· adopting an inclusive, consultative and open approach to our work; 

· maintaining independence in the process of building a bridge between government, the judiciary and the community; 

· being responsive to the needs of stakeholders; and

· supporting and developing staff.

[7] Figure 1: The context for the Council’s Role
	Needs
	SAC’s Role
	Benefits

	Need for accurate and credible data on sentencing
	1. Provide accurate and reliable sentencing data and analysis [(b)]

2. Provide independent, high quality sentencing research and policy advice [(a), (c), (f)]

3. Provide information to members of the community about sentencing [(b), (c)]

4. Give members of the community an opportunity to provide input into sentencing policy [(d), (e)]
	Sentences are more consistent

	Perception that sentences are inconsistent or otherwise deficient
	
	Sentencing reforms are more effective

	Perception that sentencing laws are deficient
	
	Sentencing processes are understandable to the public

	Low level of public knowledge about, but high degree of interest in,  sentencing practices and policy issues
	
	There is greater acceptance of sentencing reforms by the community

	Public perception that courts and government are out of touch with community attitudes in relation to sentencing
	
	There is improved confidence in sentencing decisions

	Interest of members of the community in having an opportunity to  have a voice in sentencing issues
	
	Victorians from a wide range of backgrounds will have the opportunity to have a say on sentencing


[8] Council Directors

In April 2011, the Council’s establishing legislation was amended to increase its membership from 12 to 14 and to provide the following profile areas for appointment of two new directors:

· one person who is a member of the police force who is actively engaged in criminal law enforcement duties and who is of the rank of senior sergeant or below; and

· one person who is involved in the management of a victim of crime support or advocacy group and who is a victim of crime or representative of victims of crime.

Peter Dikschei and Kornelia Zimmer commenced as directors under these respective profiles on 1 January 2012. In February 2012, the Board also welcomed John Griffin and Graham Ashton, who fill vacancies created by two retired directors.

During 2011–12, the Council Board consisted of the following directors.

Professor Arie Freiberg AM (Chair)

Profile – Senior member of an academic institution

Professor Arie Freiberg, Dean of Law at Monash University, headed a major review of Victorian sentencing laws during 2001–02. Professor Freiberg is an authority on sentencing issues and the criminal justice system and has undertaken extensive research on sentencing theory, policy and practice.

Council meetings attended: 12/12

Carmel Arthur

Profile – Operation of the criminal justice system

Carmel Arthur has great personal insight into the operation of the criminal justice system, both from her experience as a victim of crime and through her long association with Victoria Police. She was appointed to the Adult Parole Board in 2009.

Council meetings attended: 11/12

Graham Ashton AM

Profile – Operation of the criminal justice system

Graham Ashton has experience at the executive level of policing both at the state level and nationally. Prior to joining Victoria Police, Graham was an Australian Federal Police officer and acquired 24 years of experience in policing, reaching the rank of Assistant Commissioner. Graham joined Victoria Police in 2009 and in February 2012 was appointed Deputy Commissioner, Crime and Operations Support.

Appointment commenced 21 February 2012

Council meetings attended: 3/5

[9] Hugh de Kretser

Profile – Community issues affecting courts

Hugh de Kretser is the Executive Officer of the Victorian Federation of Community Legal Centres and a commissioner with the Victorian Law Reform Commission. He has extensive legal practice and policy experience in the criminal justice system, working on both offender and victim issues.

Council meetings attended: 11/12

Peter Dikschei 

Profile – Member of the police force of the rank of senior sergeant or below

Peter Dikschei has been a member of Victoria Police for over 28 years, the last 15 as a sergeant at various stations and in support roles. Earlier in his career he was a prosecutor at Melbourne and Ringwood Magistrates’ Courts. He is currently stationed at Police Communications where he is an online supervisor.

Appointment commenced 1 January 2012

Council meetings attended: 6/6

David Grace QC

Profile – Highly experienced defence lawyer

David Grace has over 30 years’ experience as a legal practitioner, having appeared in numerous court jurisdictions in a number of leading sentencing cases. He regularly appears in the High Court and the Court of Appeal and was the previous Chair of the Criminal Law Section of the Law Institute of Victoria.

Council meetings attended: 11/12

John Griffin

Profile – Operation of the criminal justice system

John Griffin has over 40 years’ experience in the operation of criminal justice systems, including senior executive roles in both the Victorian correctional system and the Victorian court system. He is currently a member of the Mental Health Review Tribunal and an adjunct professor in the School of Global and Justice Studies at RMIT.

Appointment commenced 21 February 2012

Council meetings attended: 3/5

Thérèse McCarthy

Profile – Community issues affecting courts

Thérèse McCarthy has a long history of involvement with community organisations such as Centre Against Sexual Assault (CASA) House and Court Network. She has also worked with Australian courts to enhance the relationship between the courts and the community. Ms McCarthy brings to the Council a community perspective on a range of criminal justice issues including domestic violence and sexual assault.

Council meetings attended: 7/12

Professor Jenny Morgan

Profile – Member of a victim of crime support or advocacy group

Professor Jenny Morgan is a member and previous co-chair of the Women’s Domestic Violence Crisis Service and has extensive experience in victims’ issues. She is a former chair of the Board of Centre Against Sexual Assault (CASA) House and a former member of the Board of Court Network, and she has written extensively on issues to do with gender and the law.

Council meetings attended: 10/12

[12] Barbara Rozenes

Profile – Member of a victim of crime support or advocacy group

Barbara Rozenes is the immediate past President and inaugural ambassador of Court Network, where she has had over 20 years of close contact with victims of crime. She is a board member of the Victorian Association for the Care and Resettlement of Offenders, an ambassador for Windana Drug and Alcohol Recovery and an associate member of the Australian Institute of Arbitrators and Mediators.

Council meetings attended: 9/12

Gavin Silbert SC

Profile – Highly experienced prosecution lawyer

Gavin Silbert joined the Council in November 2007. He has over 30 years’ experience as a barrister, having appeared in all jurisdictions, including the Court of Appeal and the High Court. He was appointed Chief Crown Prosecutor for Victoria in March 2008.

Council meetings attended: 11/12

Lisa Ward

Profile – Operation of the criminal justice system

Lisa Ward was appointed to the Council in August 2008. She has extensive experience in a range of human services, including Juvenile Justice, Child Protection and Adult Corrections. For the last decade, she has operated a human services consulting business, providing research, program evaluation and policy review services to government and community organisations. Ms Ward is a member of the Adult Parole Board.

Ms Ward was not a serving director between 11 August 2011 and 24 October 2011.

Council meetings attended: 9/10

Kornelia Zimmer

Profile – Involved in management of a victim of crime support or advocacy group and is a victim of crime

Kornelia Zimmer became a victim of crime advocate following her experience with the criminal justice system after the homicide of her brother. She volunteers with various victim of crime organisations across Victoria, where she specialises in policy and research.

Appointment commenced 1 January 2012

Council meetings attended: 5/6

Retired Members 2011–12 

Ken Lay APM

Profile – Operation of the criminal justice system

Ken Lay has worked in a wide range of policing roles and is currently Chief Commissioner of Victoria Police. He is a board member of the Blue Ribbon Foundation and Chair of the Australian and New Zealand Policy Advisory Agency Road Policing Forum. He sits on numerous professional boards and committees, including the Victorian Ministerial Advisory Council on Motor Cycles.

Retired 21 November 2011 

Council meetings attended: 1/4

[13] Council Secretariat

Staff

The part-time Council directors are supported by a secretariat that undertakes the Council’s daily work. While the secretariat’s organisational structure remained stable in 2011–12, there were several changes in staffing. 

Secretariat staff bring skills from a range of disciplines such as law, policy development, criminology, statistics, publishing and community education and engagement to assist the Council in meeting its objectives.

In 2011–12, secretariat staff included the following.

Chief Executive Officer

Stephen Farrow 

Acting Chief Executive Officer

Karen Gelb (2–13 April 2012)

Legal Policy 

Principal Legal Policy Officer:
Narelle Sullivan 

Senior Legal Policy Officer:
Nina Hudson

Senior Legal Policy Officer:
 Hilary Little

Senior Legal Policy Officer:
Deborah Hann (to December 2011)

Legal Policy Officer:
Tal Karp (to September 2011)

Legal Policy Officer:
Donald Ritchie

Criminology

Senior Criminologist:
Karen Gelb

Acting Senior Criminologist:
Nina Hudson (December 2011 to January 2012)

Statistics and Data

Senior Data Analyst:
Geoff Fisher

Senior Data Analyst:
Georgina Payne

Data Analyst:
Dennis Byles

Data Analyst:
Christine Knowles Diamond

[14] Community Engagement

Community Engagement Manager:
Jenni Coady

Education and Online Engagement Coordinator:
Chris Gill 

Publications and Website Officer:
Catherine Jeffreys

Administration

Operations Manager:
Prue Boughey (to January 2012)

Acting Operations Manager:
Sally Hay (January 2012 to March 2012)

Office Manager:
Sally Hay (from April 2012)

Executive Assistant:
Sally Hay (from August 2011 to January 2012)

Administrative Assistant:
Sarah Lappin (from September 2011)

Administrative Assistant:
Therese Mobayad (to September 2011)

Casual Librarian:
Julie Bransden 

Chief Finance and Accounting Officer

Anthony Phillips

Student Interns

The Council’s student research placement program aims to foster greater collaboration with universities and assist the Council with its research priorities. Students with suitable research skills and a demonstrated commitment to public interest are selected to undertake short-term supervised research projects that typically overlap with the Council’s work program and, in some cases, the student’s current academic research. 

In 2011–12, the Council hosted Chloe Woodcock through Melbourne University’s Criminology program.

[15] Organisational Chart

The Council’s organisational structure as at 30 June 2012 is shown in Figure 2.

Figure 2: Organisational chart
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[16] Accurate and Reliable Sentencing Data and Analysis

The provision of accurate and reliable sentencing data and analysis relates to the Council’s statutory function of providing statistical information on sentencing, including information on current sentencing practices.

During 2011–12, the Council achieved this objective by undertaking a statistics user needs assessment as well as publishing reports on the sentencing of children and young people in Victoria and the operation of sentence appeals in Victoria. The Council also met this objective by releasing the second in a series of reports about current sentencing practices and publishing 14 new Sentencing Snapshots.
Sentencing Children and Young People

On 11 April 2012, the Council released a research report entitled Sentencing Children and Young People in Victoria. This report is the first of its kind in Victoria, there being only very limited publicly accessible data on sentencing practices and outcomes in the Criminal Division of the Children’s Court. The Council considered that a project on this topic would be a valuable addition to its list of publications and an important contribution more generally.

In the preparation of the report, the Council gathered and analysed 10 years of data from the Criminal Division of the Children’s Court, consulted with a range of stakeholders and conducted legal research. 

The report covers the operation, functions and philosophy of the Criminal Division of the Children’s Court, with particular emphasis on the sentencing principles applicable under the Children, Youth and Families Act 2005 (Vic). Under these principles, rehabilitation is the overarching or core principle, although in appropriate cases the emphasis on rehabilitation is qualified by the need to protect the community, specifically deter offenders and ensure that offenders are held accountable for their actions. These sentencing principles may be contrasted with those set out in the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic), which instruct courts of adult jurisdiction that the purposes for which a sentence may be imposed are punishment, deterrence, rehabilitation, denunciation and protection of the community. 

[17] The Criminal Division of the Children’s Court has jurisdiction to determine summarily all criminal charges against children – apart from fatal offences – including charges for indictable offences. The court has discretion, however, to exclude its own jurisdiction when it considers a case ‘unsuitable’ to be heard summarily due to the existence of ‘exceptional circumstances’. In such cases, the matter will proceed in either the County Court or the Supreme Court, and the child will be sentenced under the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic) with its wider range of sentencing options and different sentencing principles.

Statistical Findings

The sentencing statistics in this report must be read in the context of the strong emphasis in Victoria on diversion for children and young people. For example, in 2009–10, police issued formal cautions for approximately 25% of all young alleged offenders (aged 10–17 years). Therefore, court-based sentencing statistics do not reflect the full range of dispositions utilised by the criminal justice system in relation to young offenders.

The report presents a detailed statistical profile of offences sentenced in the Children’s Court and identifies and analyses changes over the ten-year period (from 2000 to 2009 inclusive). It also contains data on children and young people (under 18 years of age at the time of offending) who are sentenced in the higher courts. In addition, the report discusses Victoria’s ‘dual track’ system, under which an adult court can sentence (in certain circumstances) an offender aged under 21 years to either adult imprisonment or detention in a youth justice centre or youth residential centre.

Offence Distribution

The Council’s report affirms a finding by many researchers that offending by children and young people is largely minor in nature (or at least offending that is sentenced). From 2000 to 2009, transit offences (ticketing and non-ticketing) accounted for 34.1% of all principal proven offences dealt with by the Children’s Court, followed by property offences at 32.1% (with theft and burglary making up the majority of these, followed by criminal damage).

Offences against the person accounted for 17% of all principal proven offences over the 10 years in question. Only a very small proportion of these were offences involving serious injury to victims. The most frequent offences against the person dealt with by the Children’s Court were assaults and offences causing injuries that are not legally classified as serious injuries. Together these offences accounted for 10.7% of all principal proven offences. 

Cases involving serious injuries or fatalities were very infrequent. Offences in which serious injury was inflicted accounted for only 1.3% of all principal proven offences dealt with by the Children’s Court. Over the 10 years, only nine young offenders had their cases heard in the County Court and 29 in the Supreme Court.

For males, the most common offence types were property offences (35.1%) followed by transit offences – ticketing and non-ticketing (27%) and offences against the person (18.3%). 

For females, the most common offence types were transit offences – ticketing and non-ticketing (54.8%), property offences (23.3%) and offences against the person (13.3%).

The most common age of young offenders sentenced in the Children’s Court was 16 years for both males and females, followed by 15 years then 17 years.

[18] Sentence Distribution

The sanctions set out in the Children, Youth and Families Act 2005 (Vic) are different from those of the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic). They range from dismissal to youth supervision orders and youth detention orders.

The Council found that the majority of young offenders sentenced during the data period received low-level sanctions. Excluding all transit offences (which because of their high volume tended to skew the data):

· 70.3% of cases were sentenced to undertakings, bonds or fines (51.4% undertakings and bonds and 18.9% fines);

· 25.6% of cases received supervisory orders (probation, youth supervision or youth attendance orders); and

· 4.1% of cases were sentenced to youth detention.

Victoria’s youth detention rate remains the lowest in the country. The state’s detention rates have been essentially stable over the 10 years from 2000 to 2009. Also low is Victoria’s youth crime rate (as measured by police processing figures). A comparison of Australia-wide police processing rates (one important indicator of actual crime rates) for 10–17 year olds for the years 2008–09 and 2009–10 reveals Victoria’s rate to be the second lowest after New South Wales in 2008–09 and the Australian Capital Territory in 2009–10. 

Current Sentencing Practices for Serious Injury Offences

In August 2012, the Council released the second report in its Current Sentencing Practices series. The aim of the series is to examine a broad range of characteristics of cases sentenced for a particular offence and determine the extent to which these characteristics influence sentencing outcomes. The new report focuses on two injury-related offences: intentionally causing serious injury (ICSI) and recklessly causing serious injury (RCSI).

The report examines data collected from sentencing remarks on 228 cases containing at least one of the two causing serious injury offences sentenced in the higher courts in 2008–09. 

Characteristics of Causing Serious Injury Offences

Some key features of the circumstances of the offences are as follows:

· Punching was the most common action used by offenders (49.8% of charges) and kicking to the head was the least common (7.8%).

· A weapon was used in nearly two-thirds of charges (63.7%).

· The most common location for these offences was a residence (48.8%), while one-quarter of charges occurred on a street, footpath or in open space (25.8%).
Some key findings regarding victims are as follows:

· Victims were most likely to suffer cuts or lacerations (59.8%) and least likely to suffer a permanent disability (3.9%), while one in five suffered head injuries (21.1%) and nearly one-quarter suffered loss of consciousness (23.4%) (see Figure 3).

· A Victim Impact Statement was tendered to the court in just over two-thirds of cases (68.0%).

· The offender was more likely to be known to the victim (55.2%) than to be a stranger to the victim (40.2%), and very unlikely to be a partner or ex-partner (7.0%).

[19] Some key characteristics of offenders are as follows:

· The vast majority of offenders were male (92.1%) and over one-third of offenders were aged 18 to 24 (37.3%).

· Nearly four in five offenders had at least one personal background factor mentioned in sentencing remarks (79.4%), nearly two-thirds had a substance abuse issue and one-quarter suffered abuse or neglect as a child (27.2%).

· Over one-quarter of offenders had served an imprisonment sentence prior to sentencing and two-thirds had committed a previous offence as an adult (65.8%).

· The vast majority of offenders pleaded guilty to the offence (89.8%).

Sentencing Outcomes

Offenders in the cases studied received a wide variety of sentences, ranging from community-based orders to imprisonment of 10 years for a single charge and a total effective sentence of life imprisonment for a case. Figure 4 (page 20) shows the range of sentences for recklessly causing serious injury, which was the more common of the two offences. 

The pattern of sentences for the offence of intentionally causing serious injury was quite different from that for recklessly causing serious injury, with a much higher proportion of charges (72.7%) receiving a sentence of immediate imprisonment and a much smaller percentage of charges (9.1%) receiving a wholly suspended sentence (WSS).

Figure 3: Percentage of causing serious injury charges by offence and by injury sustained by victim, higher courts, 2008–09
	
	Offence

	
	ICSI (n = 112)
	RCSI (n = 144)
	Total (n = 256)

	Injuries sustained by victim
	Percentage

	Cuts or lacerations
	58.9
	60.4
	59.8

	Bruising
	51.8
	31.3
	40.2

	Broken bones
	33.0
	28.5
	30.5

	Lost consciousness
	20.5
	25.7
	23.4

	Head injuries
	17.0
	24.3
	21.1

	Scarring
	10.7
	9.0
	9.8

	Chest or lung injuries
	7.1
	10.4
	9.0

	Permanent disability
	4.5
	3.5
	3.9


[20] The report examines the extent to which the characteristics of causing serious injury cases noted above influence sentencing outcomes. While judges and magistrates use ‘instinctive synthesis’ to bring together a large number of factors in order to impose a sentence, analysis in the report uses a statistical technique, known as logistic regression, to determine which factors appear to influence judges when sentencing these offences. The technique allows measurement of the combined and independent effects of factors considered in a regression model on the sentence imposed.

The statistical modelling found that criminal history, namely prior imprisonment and prior offending, was the primary factor determining whether an offender received an immediate custodial sentence. 

For offenders who received imprisonment, the length of the term was influenced by a number of factors relating to the nature and outcome of the attack, including whether the offender kicked the victim in the head, used a weapon, was under the influence of drugs or alcohol and/or rendered injuries to the victim other than cuts or lacerations (for example, permanent disability, head injuries and loss of consciousness). Charges that received an imprisonment term at or above the average term were significantly more likely than other charges to be for offences involving these factors.

Figure 4: Percentage of recklessly causing serious injury charges by sentence type and length, higher courts, 2008–09
	Charge sentence type
	Charge sentence length (years)
	Percentage

	CBO (6.3%)
	<1
	0.0

	
	1–<2
	3.8

	
	2–<3
	2.5

	ICO (1.2%)
	<1
	0.6

	
	1–<2
	0.6

	WSS (34.2%)
	<1
	9.5

	
	1–<2
	16.5

	
	2–<3
	8.2

	
	3–<4
	0.0

	YJC (5.0%)
	<1
	0.0

	
	1–<2
	2.5

	
	2–<3
	2.5

	
	3–<4
	0.0

	CCTO (0.6%)
	n.a.
	0.6

	PSS (10.1%)
	<1
	3.8

	
	1–<2
	4.4

	
	2–<3
	1.9

	IMP (42.4%)
	<1
	3.8

	
	1–<2
	14.6

	
	2–<3
	12.7

	
	3–<4
	7.0

	
	4–<5
	2.5

	
	5–<6
	0.6

	
	6+
	1.3


[21] Sentence Appeals in Victoria

In March 2012, the Council published a statistical report on sentence appeals. The report was the culmination of extensive research as part of a project to examine the broader operation of sentence appeals in Victoria.

Sentence appeals play a crucial role in sentencing in Victoria. The Court of Appeal reviews sentences imposed by judges of the County Court and the Supreme Court and determines whether an error has been made in the sentencing process. In doing so, the Court of Appeal may also provide guidance to sentencing judges about the correct approach to sentencing.

This research was prompted by a number of concerns that had been expressed in relation to sentence appeals, particularly with regard to:

· the backlog of criminal appeals in the Court of Appeal in Victoria;

· the number of appeals against sentence by the Crown given the traditional principle that such appeals should be a ‘rarity’; and

· the treatment of sentence appeals, including success rates, successful grounds of appeal and the effect of resentencing in successful sentence appeals. 

A lack of available data to inform discussions of these concerns prompted the Council to undertake this project, under its statutory functions of providing statistical information on sentencing, conducting research and disseminating information on sentencing matters to members of the judiciary and other interested persons.

The report examines data from a range of sources on criminal and sentence appeals within the context of the sentencing and appeal frameworks in Victoria. In analysing the data, we consulted extensively with the Court of Appeal in the Supreme Court of Victoria and the County Court of Victoria. This consultation process involved discussions of data analysis in a consultation paper and the collection of additional data. The Council also discussed the data with a number of key stakeholders, including the Office of Public Prosecutions, Victoria Legal Aid and criminal appeal barristers.

Key Findings

Backlog of Criminal Appeals 

A key concern explored in the project is the extent to which there was a backlog of criminal appeals in Victoria. Trend data in the report show that, between 2003–04 and 2009–10, there was a large and growing backlog of pending criminal appeals in the Court of Appeal (Figure 5). At its peak in 2009–10 (569 appeals), the backlog of criminal appeals in Victoria was the largest compared with all other Australian states and territories. 

The immediate cause of the backlog, as it stood in 2009–10, was that there had been increases in the number of criminal appeals lodged from 2005–06 to 2009–10, which had outnumbered criminal appeals finalised in those years. The shortfall between criminal appeals lodged and criminal appeals finalised over a number of years resulted in an accumulation of pending criminal appeal cases. The report examines and discusses a number of possible factors that may have contributed to the observed increases in criminal appeal lodgements, although it has not been possible to define the precise role of each factor.

More recent data analysed in the report show that the backlog of criminal appeals dropped substantially in 2010–11, as did criminal appeal lodgements. This corresponds with a substantial increase in the number of criminal appeals finalised. At 31 December 2011, while there was still a backlog, the number of pending criminal appeals had reduced to 259. 
Figure 5: Number of criminal appeal lodgements, finalisations and pendings, by financial year, 2003–04 to 2009–10

	
	2003-04
	2004-05
	2005-06
	2006-07
	2007-08
	2008-09
	2009-10

	Finalisations
	449
	459
	426
	443
	465
	493
	531

	Lodgements
	421
	451
	416
	477
	545
	512
	555

	Pendings
	338
	325
	306
	432
	489
	528
	569


[22] Success Rates in Sentence Appeals

The instinctive synthesis approach to sentencing followed in Victoria allows for a high level of individual discretion for judges in sentencing. Under this approach, it is accepted that there is no one correct sentence for any particular case, but there will be a range of sentences that may be appropriate within ‘an ambit of reasonable disagreement’. Thus, while the scope for appellate intervention is narrowly confined, this must also be balanced with the fundamental principle of achieving consistency in the approach to sentencing. 

Overall, the rates at which sentence appeals are lodged and successfully resentenced are relatively low compared with the number of sentences imposed in the higher courts. However, the likelihood of a sentence being successfully appealed increases when the appealed sentence is one of imprisonment and as the sentence length increases.

Trend data separating offender and Crown sentence appeals analysed in the report reveal different patterns in hearing and success rates, reflective of the different principles underpinning each appeal type. 

Offenders sentenced in the higher courts do not have an automatic right to appeal against their sentence; they must first obtain leave to appeal from the Court of Appeal. This process is designed to operate as a filter so that there is a substantive sentence appeal hearing (heard by two or more Judges of Appeal) only in cases that have merit. 

Crown sentence appeals differ from offender sentence appeals in a number of ways, partly due to the historical concerns about giving the Crown a right of appeal. Traditionally, they were only to be brought in rare and exceptional circumstances. The Court of Appeal has a discretion not to intervene, and the sentencing [23] double jeopardy principle, now abolished by the Criminal Procedure Act 2009 (Vic), required the Court of Appeal in resentencing to impose a lesser sentence than the sentence that should have been imposed to recognise that the offender had already faced sentence. 

Between 2008 and 2010, there were increases in the listing and hearing of applications for leave to appeal against sentence and substantive offender sentence appeals. In the past decade to 2009–10, the number of Crown sentence appeals has also increased. While they are far from common compared with offender appeals – for example in 2007–08 and 2008–09 there were 76 Crown appeals compared with 300 offender appeals – Crown sentence appeals can no longer be described as a ‘rarity’.

Figure 6: Percentage of offender sentence appeals allowed by the Court of Appeal, by calendar year, 2003 to 2010 (sentences imposed for Victorian offences)
	
	2003
	2004
	2005
	2006
	2007
	2008
	2009
	2010

	Percentage allowed
	44.9
	53.5
	44.9
	51.0
	54.6
	61.9
	49.6
	61.8


There was a clear increasing trend in the success rates for offender sentence appeals prior to 2008. The success rates for applications for leave to appeal reached a peak of 71.8% in 2007 and then declined to 50.2% in 2010. This could be linked to the more stringent test for determining such applications introduced by the Criminal Procedure Act 2009 (Vic). The success rates of substantive offender sentence appeals (Figure 6) also increased over the same period to reach a peak of 61.9% in 2008 and have since fluctuated. 

The success rates of Crown sentence appeals have also fluctuated over the past decade, although overall the trend has been downward. It is unclear whether success rates have contributed to the increasing prevalence of Crown appeals, although changes in policy relating to Crown sentence appeals introduced by different Directors of Public Prosecutions may have contributed to this trend. 

[24] Grounds of Appeal and Resentencing in Successful Sentence Appeals 

Gaining an accurate knowledge of the nature of the grounds of appeal in sentence appeals leads to a better understanding of the work of the higher courts in imposing sentences and the Court of Appeal in their review on appeal. The report makes available, for the first time, disaggregated data from two discrete time periods (2008 and 2010) on the grounds of appeal argued in sentence appeals and found to be successful by the Court of Appeal. 

The data in the report show that these matters are overlapping and complex. Despite this, the report shows consistent trends in the types of errors argued as grounds of appeal and found by the Court of Appeal to have been made in the sentencing process. The most prevalent grounds of appeal argued and found to have been successful in 2008 and 2010 relate to the sentence being too harsh (manifest excess) or too lenient (manifest inadequacy). Also common were grounds of appeal relating to the weight given to specific sentencing factors or principles, such as weight to guilty plea or weight to prior convictions. Under the instinctive synthesis approach to sentencing, judges are encouraged to state the factors they have taken into account in determining the sentence; however, they are discouraged from quantifying the precise weight given to any single factor. 

In resentencing in successful sentence appeals, the Court of Appeal may make changes to individual sentences imposed, orders for cumulation and/or concurrency and the non-parole period.

The report provides for the first time analysis of data on resentencing practices in sentence appeals in 2007–08 and 2008–09 and reveals different trends for Crown and offender sentence appeals. For offender sentence appeals, resentencing can often result in no or minimal changes to the original overall sentencing outcome. In contrast, when Crown sentence appeals were successful, this resulted in substantial increases from the original sentencing outcome. 

Reforms to Sentence Appeals in Victoria

During the period covered by the report, there have been many reforms to the legislation, procedure and practice governing criminal appeals. A significant reform over this period has been the introduction by the Supreme Court of an ‘intensive management’ model of criminal appeal cases, which applies to all criminal appeals lodged on or after 28 February 2011.

The timing of this and other reforms has meant that it was too early for the report to conclusively determine their long-term impact on appeal trends; however, some changes, such as the reduction in the criminal appeal backlog, provide an early indication of their positive effect. Since the publication of the report, further changes have been proposed, in the Criminal Procedure Amendment Bill 2012, to the test for determining applications for leave to appeal against sentence to address issues discussed in the report in relation to resentencing in successful appeals.

[25] Sentencing Snapshots

In 2011–12, the Council released 14 new Sentencing Snapshots. The offences covered by these Snapshots include:

· indecent assault (no. 115);

· maintaining a sexual relationship with a child under 16 (no. 116);

· rape (no. 117);

· sexual penetration with a child under care (no. 118);

· sexual penetration with a child under 10 (no. 119);

· arson (no. 120);

· robbery (no. 121);

· armed robbery (no. 122);

· burglary (no. 123);

· aggravated burglary (no. 124);

· causing serious injury intentionally (no. 125);

· causing serious injury recklessly (no. 126);

· causing injury recklessly (no. 127); and

· causing injury intentionally (no. 128).

Each Sentencing Snapshot examines trends with reference to the age and gender of the sentenced person, sentence types and lengths, principal and total effective sentences and non-parole periods. The Snapshots also include a section on appeals.

As at June 2012, the Council has now published 128 Sentencing Snapshots, including approximately 100 for offences heard in the County Court and the Supreme Court, covering over 75% of all people sentenced in those courts. During 2011–12, Sentencing Snapshots were cited in at least 26 decisions in the Court of Appeal, including the following cases:

· Bavage v The Queen [2012] VSCA 149 (29 June 2012);

· Director of Public Prosecutions v Hill [2012] VSCA 144 (29 June 2012);

· NCH v The Queen [2012] VSCA 129 (13 June 2012);

· WD v The Queen [2012] VSCA 100 (17 May 2012);

· Raccosta v The Queen [2012] VSCA 59 (4 April 2012);

· Marku v The Queen [2012] VSCA 51 (23 March 2012);

· Le v The Queen [2012] VSCA 43 (14 March 2012);

· AWP v The Queen [2012] VSCA 41 (8 March 2012);

· Hoy v The Queen [2012] VSCA 49 (7 March 2012);

· Akkala v The Queen [2012] VSCA 29 (29 February 2012);

· Blackler v The Queen [2012] VSCA 16 (15 February 2012);

· Violatzi v The Queen [2011] VSCA 424 (15 December 2011);

· Waters v The Queen [2011] VSCA 415 (9 December 2011);

· Ashdown v The Queen [2011] VSCA 408 (7 December 2011);

· Tran v The Queen [2011] VSCA 383 (8 November 2011);

· Tamamovich v The Queen [2011] VSCA 330 (28 October 2011);

· Quach v The Queen [2011] VSCA 323 (27 October 2011);

· McDonough v The Queen [2011] VSCA 310 (13 October 2011);

· Sarvak v The Queen [2011] VSCA 300 (7 October 2011);

· Dutton v The Queen [2011] VSCA 287 (28 September 2011);

· HP v The Queen [2011] VSCA 251 (25 August 2011);

· Rintoull v The Queen [2011] VSCA 245 (23 August 2011);

· Sherna v The Queen [2011] VSCA 242 (23 August 2011);

· Mansfield v The Queen [2011] VSCA 290 (19 August 2011);

· Brayshaw v The Queen [2011] VSCA 233 (18 August 2011); and

· Director of Public Prosecutions v Aparo [2011] VSCA 207 (28 July 2011).

Sentencing Snapshots are available free for download from the Council’s website. In the coming year we will continue to update previously released Snapshots for people sentenced in the higher courts.

[26] Statistics User Needs Assessment

Since the establishment of the Sentencing Advisory Council in 2004, one of our key tasks has been to provide statistical information on current sentencing practices to members of the judiciary and other interested people. This continues to be a major role of the Council: the regular provision of such data is essential to support judicial officers in the complex task of sentencing and to promote consistent sentencing practice. 

In consultation with the courts and the Courts Statistical Services unit of the Department of Justice, the Council has developed a set of accurate databases and a range of techniques to extract and analyse data. These data have proved extremely valuable and have been an integral part of many of the Council’s projects.

The environment in which the Council produces its statistics has been changing, however. In particular, changing legal and technological environments may have an impact on the Council’s work:

· In R v MacNeil-Brown (2008) 20 VR 677, the majority of the Court of Appeal held that prosecutors have a duty to provide submissions to a sentencing court as to the appropriate sentencing range. This change to the legal environment means that statistics and analysis of sentencing ranges are becoming an increasingly integral part of sentencing practice. This provides an opportunity for the Council to present richer data that delve deeper into sentencing practices for various offences.

· Technological advances, such as increasing use of tablet computers, have implications for the ways in which the Council presents its statistics.

In order to ensure that the Council is responsive to such changes in its environment and is well placed to meet further challenges and changes into the future, the Council has undertaken a review of its statistics work program and an assessment of the needs of those who use the Council’s statistical publications.

The primary objectives of this assessment are to identify:

· how our stakeholders use our statistical products;

· our users’ key information needs;

· any gaps in our current statistical products and how the value of products could be improved; and

· opportunities for future development of our statistical products.

As the purpose of this consultation is to ascertain the value of the Council’s statistical work program for its key stakeholders, the major component of the work has involved meetings with various individuals and groups, including: 

· the courts – judicial officers and their respective CEOs, researchers or managers;

· legal practitioners – key organisations in the legal field, representing various interests; and

· policy-makers – the heads of various Department of Justice business units and their researchers.

An online survey was also developed to allow others to participate in the consultation, including the following groups:

· academic researchers, teachers and students – universities and individual researchers interested in the Council’s work; and

· the general public and media – other individuals interested in the Council’s work. 

The coming year will see the Council work towards implementing changes to its ongoing statistical work program based on the feedback received through this assessment.

[27] SACStat
The Council is committed to expanding its statistical publications and has been investigating options for publishing more statistical material electronically in an interactive format on the Council’s website.

In 2010, we developed a proof of concept product, SACStat, which contained basic statistical information on the sentencing of all offences in the Magistrates’ Court, County Court and Supreme Court. We piloted a version of SACStat for the Magistrates’ Court in July 2010. It was made available to all magistrates through the Judicial Officers Information Network administered by the Judicial College of Victoria. It was intended that SACStat would be later made available more broadly to police prosecutors and legal practitioners and eventually made publicly available on the Council’s website.

What became evident during the pilot phase was that the concept of SACStat was viable in terms of content and audience need, but the technological solution was not appropriate for broad distribution. In early 2012 the Council developed a new technological solution for SACStat with the assistance of external contractors. 

Building on learnings from the 2010 pilot and findings from the statistics user needs assessment, SACStat has been redeveloped and will be released publicly on the Sentencing Advisory Council website in the second half of 2012. The initial version will include offences from Victorian legislation that have been sentenced in the Magistrates’ Court between 1 January 2009 and 31 December 2011, where there are at least 50 charges of the offence over the three-year period. We have chosen 50 charges as the cut off to ensure there are enough data to display useful results, and most importantly to provide data for the lower volume offences that are not often sentenced by the court. We believe this will assist judicial officers and practitioners to understand sentencing trends for offences that do not come before the court on a regular basis.

In developing SACStat, the Council has been mindful of the needs of key users of the data. The application has been optimised for the latest internet technology and will be readily accessible on tablet devices operating on 3G networks – meaning that practitioners will be able to refer directly to the application while they are in court. Great care has also been taken to ensure the application meets the required accessibility standards.

[28] Independent, High Quality Sentencing Research and Policy Advice

The provision of independent, high quality sentencing research and policy advice relates to the Council’s statutory functions of stating in writing to the Court of Appeal our views in relation to the giving, or the review, of a guideline judgment, conducting research and disseminating information on sentencing matters and advising the Attorney-General on sentencing matters. 

During 2011–12, the Council achieved this objective by completing references from the Attorney-General on gross violence, baseline sentencing and parole. 

Statutory Minimum Sentences for Gross Violence Offences

In April 2011, the Council received its first reference from the new Attorney-General, regarding a proposal to introduce statutory minimum sentences for serious injury offences when committed in circumstances of ‘gross violence’.

The Council was asked to provide its advice on the way in which a minimum four-year non-parole period for adults and a minimum period in detention of two years for 16 and 17 year olds might operate.

The circumstances of gross violence suggested by the terms of reference represent offending involving a high level of culpability, such as planning in advance to engage in an attack, attacking as part of a gang, carrying and using a weapon and continuing to attack after the victim is incapacitated.

The Council consulted with a wide variety of criminal justice, governmental and non-governmental stakeholders and held two discussion forums. The Council also made a public call for submissions and received 26 written submissions. 

While the Council acknowledged that the majority of consulted stakeholders opposed the introduction of a statutory minimum sentence scheme (particularly for children aged 16 and 17 and young offenders), the Council was not asked to consider the merits of a statutory minimum sentence scheme or whether such a scheme should be introduced.

The Council recommended that two new offences should be created, involving the infliction of ‘severe’ injury, representing a level of injury greater than that currently defined as ‘serious’ injury. The Council also provided its advice on the particular gross violence circumstances as well as those circumstances (described as ‘special reasons’) in which a court should be able to sentence below the statutory minimum. 

[29] The Council was also asked for, and provided, its advice on the likely effects of the recommendations, and options put forward by the Council, on sentencing levels for the relevant offences and on the numbers of persons serving custodial and non-custodial sentences.

Upon its release, the report was described by the Attorney-General as ‘comprehensive and thorough’. The government agreed with the Council’s recommendations that the gross violence offences incurring a statutory minimum sentence should be separately defined, incorporating a higher threshold definition for the relevant injury and applying in specified circumstances. 

The government announced that legislation to establish the gross violence offences would be prepared for introduction into parliament in 2012; however, in order to allow time for consultation with all interested parties on the report’s recommendations relating to juvenile offenders, statutory minimum sentences for juvenile offenders would not be included in this initial legislation.

Baseline Sentencing

At the same time as asking the Council to advise him on statutory minimum sentences for gross violence offences, the Attorney-General separately asked the Council to advise him on aspects of a baseline sentencing scheme. The introduction of such a scheme was one of a number of policies relating to sentencing that the then opposition had announced prior to its election to government in 2010. The Council’s report on baseline sentencing was published on 3 May 2012.

The advice that the Attorney-General sought from the Council was limited to matters such as which offences should be included in the scheme, what the baseline levels for those offences should be, how the scheme should operate in practice and the likely effects of the scheme on prisoner numbers. The Attorney-General did not ask the Council to examine the merits of a baseline sentencing scheme or whether a baseline sentencing scheme should be introduced.

As part of the Council’s work on the baseline sentencing project, the Council consulted with a wide variety of criminal justice, governmental and non-governmental stakeholders. The Council held three roundtables with both legal and community stakeholders and made a public call for submissions, receiving 15 written submissions. The Council also produced an issues paper on baseline sentencing, which was made publicly available on the Council’s website and helped facilitate discussion during these consultations.

[30] The issues paper proposed two baseline sentencing models and also sought input on whether there were other more appropriate models. These two models – the combined (subjective and objective) model and the objective offence seriousness model – are variations on models used in other jurisdictions, such as the standard non-parole scheme in New South Wales and the guideline sentencing scheme in England and Wales. 

In considering proposed models for the implementation of the baseline sentencing scheme, the Council had particular regard to which proposed model could be best incorporated into the existing sentencing framework, from both a policy and a procedural perspective. 

Two assumptions were particularly important in the framing of this consideration and the Council’s advice. These assumptions are that the baseline sentencing scheme will only apply once a court has determined that a custodial sentence is appropriate (it is not a mandatory sentencing regime) and once the court has determined that a non-parole period is appropriate. 

The Council’s report recommends that a model similar to the objective offence seriousness model be adopted. The Council considered, however, that the model be more appropriately described as the ‘offence seriousness model’.

In the offence seriousness model, the baseline level represents the non-parole period for an offence that is in the middle of the range of seriousness, taking into account factors that are relevant to the offence only, before any discount has been applied for a guilty plea and/or assistance to authorities. 

Factors that are personal to the offender (such as prior criminal history, the presence or absence of remorse and the offender’s prospects for rehabilitation) are not relevant to this determination. However, alongside discounts for a guilty plea or assistance to authorities, they can be taken into account by a court in setting the non-parole period for an individual case when moving up or down from the baseline for the offence.

The Council also recommended that there be only one level for each baseline offence, consistent with this proposed model.

The Council’s recommended levels for each offence are based on a number of factors including:

· the maximum penalty for a baseline offence;

· the current sentencing practices and the median sentence of imprisonment for a baseline offence;

· the derived non-parole period midpoint, a statistical figure produced by the Council to provide a more accurate representation of the middle of the range of an offence than the median;

· comments by the Court of Appeal (or individual Judges of Appeal) and where relevant the challenge to current sentencing practices by the former Director of Public Prosecutions; and

· the Council’s own research on community attitudes to relative offence seriousness.

In its report, the Council acknowledged that the recommended baseline levels for sexual offences, particularly those against children, reflected a considerable increase from current sentencing practices compared with other categories of offending. For example, the recommended baseline level for sexual penetration of a child under 16 is 10 years whereas the median non-parole period is 4.5 years and the derived non-parole period is 6.4 years. The Council considered this increase in light of the policy objectives of the baseline sentencing scheme, commentary by the Court of Appeal (or individual Judges of Appeal) regarding the adequacy of current sentencing practices and unequivocal key findings from the community panel data, recognising the considerable harm and culpability associated with sexual offending.

[31] The Council’s Baseline Sentencing report also examines the likely effects of the recommended baseline sentencing scheme on sentencing levels and on the prison population. The estimates presented in the report do not represent forecasts of the actual numbers of prisoners in future years. The actual numbers of persons serving sentences for these offences in future years will be affected by a wide range of factors that may include population growth and other demographic changes as well as possible changes in the prevalence, reporting, investigation and prosecution of the relevant offences. 

The Council anticipates that sentence lengths for all baseline offences will increase following the implementation of the baseline sentencing scheme. However, the extent of this increase will vary between particular offences and between categories of offences. 

For example, the recommended baseline levels for sexual offences, compared with other categories, reflect a considerable increase from current sentencing practices (as demonstrated by the median sentence length). As a result, the sentence lengths for these offences are likely to increase substantially following the introduction of the baseline sentencing scheme.

The Council anticipates that the baseline sentencing scheme will result in judges imposing longer non-parole periods for baseline offences; the prison population will therefore increase. However, the level and rate of the increase will depend on a number of factors, including the proportion of cases to be affected by the baseline sentencing scheme and the effect of the abolition of suspended sentences for all baseline offences.

Review of the Victorian Adult Parole System 

On 23 May 2011, the Attorney-General requested that the Sentencing Advisory Council ‘review and report on the legislative and administrative framework governing the release and management of sentenced prisoners on parole in Victoria’. According to the terms of reference, the purpose of the review was ‘to ensure that the parole system best serves the Victorian community, including promoting public safety and reducing re-offending’.

The terms of reference asked the Council to consider:

· whether statutory criteria are desirable to guide decision-making in relation to the ‘granting and revocation’ of parole, particularly in relation to violent crimes, and if so the nature of these criteria;

· the framework within which decisions are made by both Corrections Victoria and the Adult Parole Board in relation to breaches of parole and whether statutory criteria are desirable to guide decision-making in relation to breaches; and

· whether the existing ‘legislative and administrative framework’ facilitates adequate information-sharing between relevant agencies for the proper management of parolees.

In conducting the review, the Council was asked to have regard to the purposes and operation of parole and legislative arrangements in other Australian and comparable overseas jurisdictions.

The Council published its report on 23 March 2012. 

The report contains a package of recommendations that seek to retain the strengths of the existing parole system while enhancing decision-making guidance for the Adult Parole Board (‘the Board’) and improving the transparency, consistency and accuracy of its processes and decisions. [32] The recommendations also aim to ensure that there is adequate inter-agency coordination around the management of parolees.

In conducting this review, the Council consulted as widely as was possible in the time available. In particular, the Council consulted closely with the Adult Parole Board, Corrections Victoria and Victoria Police. The Council convened a formal information-sharing workshop with representatives of the three agencies. There were three discussion forums: one with criminal justice stakeholders, one with representatives from victim of crime organisations and one with victims of crime themselves. While it was not feasible to consult with parolees or ex-parolees, the Council made a public call for submissions and received 15 written submissions, several of which addressed issues of prisoners’ rights and the impact of parole on this group.

Purpose and Operation of the Victorian Adult Parole System

When sentencing an offender to a period of imprisonment of at least one year, Victorian courts ordinarily fix a non-parole period as part of the sentence. This means that when the non-parole period expires, the Adult Parole Board has discretion to release the offender into the community to serve the remainder of the sentence on parole, under the supervision of Community Correctional Services. While on parole, the offender is subject to a range of conditions. If those conditions are breached, the Board may cancel parole, and the offender will be returned to prison.

At the commencement of the Council’s review, there was no legislated or agreed articulated purpose of parole in Victoria. In consultations, the Council suggested the following formulation:

The purpose of parole is to promote public safety by supervising and supporting the release and integration of prisoners into the community, thereby minimising their risk of reoffending (in terms of both frequency and seriousness) while they are on parole and after they complete their sentences.

This formulation of the purpose of parole was accepted by the majority of stakeholders, including the Adult Parole Board, Corrections Victoria and Victoria Police. The Council recommends that the purpose of parole be incorporated in all agency manuals and guides and that mechanisms are in place to ensure that agency procedures are at all times consistent with this purpose.

Decision-Making Criteria

In the report, the Council recommended against the introduction of statutory criteria to guide the Adult Parole Board’s decision-making in relation to granting and cancelling parole. The Council considered that any potential advantages of statutory criteria are likely to be outweighed by the various potential negative consequences.

The Council noted, however, that there is currently very little guidance to Board members in this area and made a number of recommendations to rectify this. These recommendations include that the Board should adopt new guiding principles in its Members’ Manual to assist members when making decisions on the granting, revocation or cancellation of parole. 

[33] Under the new principle for granting parole, in assessing whether parole should be granted to a prisoner, community safety is to be the paramount consideration. In assessing the risk to community safety, the Board will consider:

· whether there is an unacceptable risk to the community if the offender is released on parole; and 

· whether the risk to the community would be greater if the offender were released from prison without the supervision and support provided on parole. (This second element is not relevant in the case of an offender who is sentenced to life imprisonment with a non-parole period.) 

In applying this principle, the Board must consider the nature and severity of harm that is risked (such as the commission of a violent offence) and the likelihood that the harm will occur. The Board should also consider the extent to which the degree of risk can be reduced through particular forms of supervision (such as a new supervision regime developed by Corrections Victoria for serious violent offenders) and through particular conditions.

With regard to breach of parole, the Council recommended that the Board adopt a new general principle to guide breach decision-making, under which community safety is again the paramount consideration. Parole should be cancelled if the offender poses an unacceptable risk to community safety if parole continues. Corrections Victoria should follow the same principle in relation to breaches of parole, such that if it has assessed the parolee as being an unacceptable risk to the community, it must recommend to the Board that parole is cancelled. The Council made further recommendations around the factors the Board should consider in breach of parole decisions.

Decision-Making Processes

Unlike many other bodies with the power to make administrative decisions affecting a person’s rights, interests or legitimate expectations, the Adult Parole Board is not bound by the rules of procedural fairness. Many submissions received by the Council expressed concern about this. The Council examined the Board’s decision-making processes in detail and found them to be lacking fairness and transparency in many respects. 

The Council considers that in principle the Board should be subject to the rules of procedural fairness, as these rules promote high quality, fair decisions. 

Within the limitations of this review, however, it has not been possible to resolve the uncertainties around precisely what would be required if the Board were subject to the rules of procedural fairness and the degree of risk of the potential consequences outlined in the report (one of which is delay). Therefore, the Council has provisionally concluded that the Board’s exemption from applying the rules of procedural fairness should remain in place.

The Council instead made a number of recommendations aimed at drawing some important aspects of procedural fairness into the Board’s processes. This will improve the Board’s transparency and accessibility, without placing on the Board undue administrative burden.

[34] Does the Existing Legislative and Administrative Framework Facilitate Adequate Information-Sharing between Relevant Agencies for the Proper Management of Parolees? 

The Council worked closely with the three relevant agencies (the Adult Parole Board, Corrections Victoria and Victoria Police) to determine whether existing frameworks facilitate adequate information-sharing. The Council’s examination of this issue found that there is: 

· no group or committee that oversees the functioning of the parole system as a whole; 

· no system-wide coordination of information-sharing across the three agencies; 

· no overarching risk-management framework; and 

· inadequate (and in some cases no) documentation of existing agency procedures as they relate to inter-agency parolee management. 

Further, the information technology arrangements supporting the parole system are very complex and cumbersome. 

The current situation has led to uncertainty about agency roles and accountabilities, particularly around information-sharing. This can result in breakdowns of communication and risks to community safety. As demonstrated by recent cases involving serious offending by parolees, there are high risks associated with the administration of the parole system. Accurate and timely information-sharing – particularly as it relates to breach of parole – is a vital element in the management of parolees.

Some of the Council’s recommendations in this area are:

· the establishment of a committee to coordinate parole activities across the three agencies;

· the development by the new committee of an inter-agency information-sharing framework or agreement;

· a review by the new committee of the agencies’ current operating manuals;

· a review of privacy laws relevant to parole; and

· the collection and analysis by the Adult Parole Board of comprehensive parole data. 

[35] Informing Members of the Community about Sentencing

The provision of information about sentencing to members of the community relates to the Council’s statutory functions of providing statistical information on sentencing, including information on current sentencing practices, conducting research and disseminating information on sentencing matters.

During 2011–12, the Council achieved this objective by continuing to enhance all aspects of our You be the Judge program. You be the Judge is the Council’s hallmark community education program. The aim of the program is to enhance community knowledge of sentencing and to impart some understanding of the complexities inherent in the sentencing process.

You be the Judge sessions are run regularly for a variety of audiences. The program also exists as a teachers’ kit based on the Victorian school curriculum and as an online interactive web application.

You be the Judge Sessions and Teaching Resources

During 2011–12, the Council varied the audience groups targeted for You be the Judge sessions. With the introduction of the Virtual You be the Judge application and the refreshing of our teaching resources, it was felt that school groups are well catered for with information on sentencing. Our focus has shifted to advocacy groups working with victims of crime and offenders, and adult education groups.

In 2011–12, we delivered You be the Judge sessions to 35 groups and presented to more than 1,300 participants. Sessions were delivered to groups such as Victims Assistance and Counselling Program workers, Court Network, Centres Against Sexual Assault, Honorary Justices of the Peace and Bail Justice Associations and University of the Third Age.

While the ages of our participants vary widely, the useful learnings and interesting experiences are shared outcomes for all of our groups. Participants in the sessions are challenged to take on the role of the judge in a sentencing case study. They are first asked to give a ‘top-of-the-head’ sentence after viewing a TV news report, followed by a more considered sentence at the end of the session after being exposed to information about sentencing principles, purposes and trends for the particular case under review.

The two You be the Judge teachers’ kits provide resources to allow teachers to present to students material that follows a similar structure to the You be the Judge sessions. The kits provide additional material including suggested class activities at various points throughout the program. 

[36] The VELS kit is specifically targeted at several domains within the Victorian Essential Learning Standards (VELS) Years 9 and 10 curriculum. The VELS kit encourages teachers to team-teach across a number of domains, including English, mathematics, the arts and information technology. An important aspect of You be the Judge is the opportunity to teach and develop thinking skills – applied intellectual activities that use information to achieve outcomes and include elements such as solving problems, making decisions, thinking critically, developing an argument and using evidence in support of that argument.

Both teachers’ kits underwent updates during 2011–12, mainly due to the significant legislative changes made to sentencing orders early in 2012. Also, the statistical data on sentencing trends included in each of the case studies in the kits were updated to the latest available published data.

The Council also presented at the Victorian Commercial Teachers Association annual Comview conference, where we spoke on the legislative changes to sentencing orders and the impacts these changes will have on the legal studies curriculum. Following this, we ran a professional development session on how to make the best use of the You be the Judge teachers’ kits.

Virtual You be the Judge

The Council’s Virtual You be the Judge (VYBTJ) online application continues to be popular, with over 7,200 visitors and nearly 8,400 attempts at the cases in 2011–12.

Visitors to VYBTJ can interact with various aspects of a sentencing hearing, receiving information from victims, offenders, prosecutors, defence lawyers and the judge. The Flash application includes three case studies: Dane, charged with intentionally causing serious injury; Terri, charged with trafficking a drug of dependence; and Richard, charged with culpable driving causing death.

[37] Each case study commences with the offender telling his or her story of events. Visitors can then ask a range of questions of the offender, the prosecutor and the defence lawyer, and hear information from the victim of the crime or from the community corrections officer involved. When it comes time to sentence the offender, visitors can choose from three types of sentences and then select the length of sentence up to the maximum penalty for the particular offence.

Figure 7 shows the number of visitors to VYBTJ from July 2011 to June 2012. Over the 12 months more than 7,200 visitors entered the application and attempted one or more of the case studies.
Figure 7: Number of visitors and cases attempted in the Virtual You be the Judge application, July 2011 to June 2012
	
	Total users
	All case attempts

	July 2011
	219
	247

	August 2011
	826
	893

	September 2011
	623
	743

	October 2011
	504
	596

	November 2011
	576
	630

	December 2011
	210
	173

	January 2012
	143
	148

	February 2012
	222
	226

	March 2012
	945
	1161

	April 2012
	653
	708

	May 2012
	1804
	2283

	June 2012
	496
	565


Of the 3,258 attempts at Richard’s case…

· 57% completed the case

· 65% of those who completed the case gave him a prison sentence

Of the 2,558 attempts at Dane’s case…

· 60% completed the case

· 48% of those who completed the case imposed an intensive correction order

Of the 2,568 attempts at Terri’s case…

· 65% completed the case

· 81% of those who completed the case selected a community-based order

While no data are collected about visitors, the trends in usage suggest that a significant number of users are students of legal studies, as it is generally in term 2 that the sentencing unit is covered. This coincides with the peak in usage in May 2012, when 25% of the year’s total visitors used the application.

Due to the changes to sentencing orders in early 2012, we have updated the three existing case studies. These will be available online in September 2012. We have also been working on developing a new case study set in the Magistrates’ Court of Victoria. This will also be available by September 2012.
Website

The Council’s website <www.sentencingcouncil.vic.gov.au> continues to be an important tool for delivering information about sentencing in Victoria. As well as providing information about the Council’s objectives, structure and activities, the site includes sections on:

· Our Work, which has information on our present and past projects and information on how to get involved with the Council’s work. This section also includes useful links.

· Publications, which includes an A to Z listing as well as a Browse by Category page.

· About Sentencing, which provides sentencing information and statistics.

· Education, which is devoted to our resources for teachers and students.

· News, which details our latest news and highlights new publication releases.

· About Us, which describes the Council’s functions and personnel.

[38] Our site is visited by a wide variety of users, including legal professionals, students, teachers, interest groups and the broader community. 

There are now 215 publications on the site, ranging in size from a single page to 348 pages. While most publications are in PDF (portable document format), we are now endeavouring to include a plain text format of each publication to ensure our material is accessible to a broad audience.

The growing amount of information on the site coincides with an increasing number of visitors. During 2011–12, there were over 65,000 visits to the site, a 32% increase on the previous year (see Figure 8). 

Figure 8: Number of visits to the Council’s website from 2006–07 to 2011–12
	Year
	Number of visits

	2006 –07
	17,534

	2007 –08
	24,077

	2008 –09
	29,311

	2009 –10
	36,421

	2010 –11
	49,521

	2011 –12
	65,576


The Council aims to ensure that the website conforms with version 2.0 of the Web Content Accessibility Guidelines (WCAG 2.0) developed by the World Wide Web Consortium (W3C). This ensures the site is accessible to a broad range of users, including people with sight disabilities.

Social Media
In 2011, the Sentencing Advisory Council entered the world of social media with a view to furthering our research, education, advisory and community engagement objectives. Broadly speaking, social media is the use of online technology for easy and simple self-publishing, dialogue between users and social networking.

The Council’s aims for adopting social media are:

· staying up to date with current news, research, policy, analysis and commentary on sentencing and related matters nationally and internationally;

· establishing and maintaining dialogue with stakeholders and the wider community on sentencing issues; and

· remaining aware of and adopting current best practices in:

· public communications;

· community education and engagement; and

· statistical analysis and reporting.

The Council has established a Twitter account, and we sent our first tweet under the user name @SACVic on 2 August 2011. Within 12 months we had over 600 followers of our account and had tweeted over 500 messages. Our tweets range from information about the latest Council publications to interesting and topical sentencing research from Australia and overseas. @SACVic is moderated by staff members of the secretariat rather than by Council members, and as such we only tweet factual information, not opinions or individual views.

Being on Twitter has drawn a broader audience to the Council’s work, with many of our followers being people who have not previously engaged with us through more traditional means. In the coming year we will look to other forms of social media to expand the audiences and reach of the Council’s work.

[39] Giving Members of the Community the Opportunity to Provide Input into Sentencing Policy

Giving members of the community the opportunity to provide input into sentencing policy relates to the Council’s statutory functions of consulting and gauging public opinion on sentencing matters. 

The Council’s consultation functions focus predominantly on capturing informed opinions specific to research references and projects that we undertake. Gauging public opinion, on the other hand, is conducted as a separate process to assist our understanding of broader community views of sentencing in Victoria, and this work ultimately contributes to the field of academic research on public opinion.

Gauging Public Opinion

To assist the Council with undertaking our work on gauging public opinion, we joined a national research project funded by the Australian Research Council and since 2008–09 have been involved in a large-scale, representative survey of public opinion about sentencing.

The research involved a longitudinal design that surveyed people repeatedly over four separate phases. The aim of the project was to gather data on public attitudes about crime and sentencing and to examine avenues for incorporating public opinion into sentencing policy. The research aimed to provide evidence of community views that would enable governments, the courts, the public and the media to have an accurate and evidence-based understanding of the views of the community.

In March 2011, the Council produced its first report based on the Victorian component of the national survey, examining community views on the use of alternatives to imprisonment. During 2011–12, the Council released three further reports, examining community views of the purposes of sentencing, predictors of punitiveness and predictors of confidence in the courts. These reports complete the Council’s analysis of the data from this survey.

[40] Predictors of Punitiveness: Community Views in Victoria

The Victorian data used for this report were collected by a computer-assisted telephone survey conducted in 2008 for the first phase of data collection in the longitudinal survey. The analysis was based on data collected from a random sample of 1,200 Victorians.

Measures

The primary measure of interest in this analysis was people’s responses on a scale measuring punitiveness. The individual items that were combined to form the scale were as follows:

· The death penalty should be the punishment for murder.

· People who break the law should be given stiffer sentences.

· The courts are too soft on offenders.

· The tougher the sentence, the less likely an offender is to commit more crime.

· Rehabilitation is not taken seriously by criminals.

· High crime rates are mainly an indication or sign that punishments are not severe enough.

· The most effective response to crime is to have harsher sentences.

· These questions were based on those used in other studies reported in the international literature.

Key Findings

The findings from this report show that Victorians are moderately punitive. Responses on the punitiveness scale ranged from a low of 8 to a maximum of 35, with a mean of 24.

The strongest predictor of punitiveness was appropriate sentences: people who felt that current sentences were too lenient were more likely to hold punitive views. People were also more likely to be punitive if they believed that judges should reflect public opinion when sentencing. People who perceived that crime had increased were more punitive, as were those with lower levels of confidence in sentencing.

Consumers of commercial/tabloid media were more likely to be punitive, as were those with no tertiary education and the politically conservative.

Path analysis was used in this report to allow a more detailed understanding of the indirect pathways that lead to punitiveness. This approach allows the strengths of the relationships among the variables in a model to be tested. 

There were three variables that stood out as having multiple pathways, both direct and indirect, to punitiveness. The first of these was politics – as well as having a direct path to punitiveness, people who classified themselves as politically conservative were more likely to perceive crime as increasing and to have negative attitudes towards the courts and sentencing.

Media use was also linked to punitiveness both directly and indirectly – as well as having a direct path to punitiveness, people who relied on commercial or tabloid news for information were more likely to perceive crime as increasing, to worry about crime and to hold negative attitudes towards the courts.

Finally, perception of crime was linked to punitiveness both directly and indirectly – as well as having a direct path to punitiveness, people who perceived that crime had been increasing were more likely to believe that judges should reflect public opinion when sentencing and that current sentences are too lenient, and they were less likely to believe in the fairness of the courts, to accept alternatives to imprisonment and to have confidence in the courts.

[41] Purposes of Sentencing: Community Views in Victoria

The Victorian data used for this report were collected by a computer-assisted telephone survey conducted in 2009 for the second phase of data collection in the longitudinal survey. Participants were 300 people randomly selected from the original sample of 1,200 who participated in the first phase of the research.

Measures

The primary measure of interest in this analysis was people’s opinions about the most important purpose of sentencing for eight specific case studies. The case studies varied along three dimensions:

· offender age (young 17 year old versus adult 30 year old);

· offender criminal history (no previous criminal record versus three previous convictions for the same offence); and

· offence type (burglary versus serious assault).

The use of specific case studies was designed to engender greater degrees of deliberative and considered responses by moving people away from the stereotypical image of a repeat, violent offender that is typically thought of when using more abstract questions about sentencing. Thus the survey was designed to facilitate the provision of more thoughtful and nuanced responses.

Key Findings

It is useful to consider the findings of the report on predictors of punitiveness – of a moderately punitive public – in the context of the subsequent report on community views of the purposes of sentencing. The report on purposes of sentencing provides evidence that, like judges and magistrates themselves, people adopt an individualised approach to sentencing, tailoring their preferences for the main purpose of sentencing to the circumstances of each specific case before them. Thus although in the abstract people are moderately punitive, when provided with specific scenarios to consider people’s responses become more nuanced and complex. 

The analysis in the report on purposes of sentencing illustrates the effects of offender age, criminal history and offence type on people’s perceptions of the main purpose of sentencing. The results show that respondents’ preferences for the purposes of sentencing varied according to the different offence/offender combinations but focused on only two primary purposes: punishment and rehabilitation. Table 1 presents the average percentage ratings of the most important purpose of sentencing for each type of offender and each offence type, averaged across all the relevant case studies.

Table 1: Mean percentage ratings of most important purpose of sentencing for each offender type and each offence type

	
	Punishment
	Individual deterrence
	General deterrence
	Rehabilitation
	Incapacitation

	Offender type
	

	Young
	29.1
	13.7
	6.5
	39.6
	11.2

	Adult
	39.7
	12.9
	6.6
	26.7
	14.1

	First time
	22.2
	17.4
	5.9
	51.3
	3.2

	Repeat
	46.6
	9.2
	7.3
	15.0
	22.1

	Offence type
	

	Burglary
	31.8
	13.6
	6.9
	37.7
	10.0

	Serious assault
	37.0
	13.1
	6.2
	28.6
	15.3


[42] Across the four relevant case studies, the most important purpose of sentencing for youth was rehabilitation, with an average of almost four in 10 people (39.6%) nominating this as their preference. In contrast, an average of 39.7% of people nominated punishment as the most important purpose of sentencing for adult offenders. A similar pattern was found based on prior criminal history: for first-time offenders the most important purpose across the four relevant case studies was rehabilitation (an average of 51.3%) while for repeat offenders it was punishment (an average of 46.6%). 

Rehabilitation was nominated as the most important purpose of sentencing for the burglary case studies (an average of 37.7%), even when taking into account the different types of offender (that is, even including adult offenders and repeat offenders). With the serious assault offence, people’s preferences were more punitive, with an average of 37.0% of respondents nominating punishment as the most important purpose of sentencing. 

General deterrence was the least likely to be nominated across the offender and offence types, with at most an average of 7.3% of respondents choosing this purpose for repeat offenders. Individual deterrence was least common for repeat offenders (9.2%) and most commonly nominated for first-time offenders (17.4%).

Finally, incapacitation was clearly seen as inappropriate for first-time offenders, with only an average of 3.2% of respondents nominating this purpose as the most important for this type of offender, but it was considered as the most important purpose for 22.1% of repeat offenders. Respondents thus saw a substantial difference between first-time offenders and recidivist offenders.

The results of this analysis thus show that community views on the purposes of sentencing are complex and nuanced. Participants in this study did not focus solely on punishment as a purpose of sentencing, but also saw rehabilitation as an important purpose of sentencing in certain instances. 

Taken together, the two reports show that providing people with specific case studies facilitates more nuanced and complex responses to survey questions. The results from these reports are consistent with a large body of both Australian and international literature that shows that people tend to think about violent and repeat offenders when asked abstract questions about sentencing, and thus people tend to be more punitive. In contrast, people become less punitive when provided with specific scenarios or examples to consider. The findings thus show the value in understanding the differences in people’s opinions – of providing concrete examples as a way of dissecting the more abstract construct of punitiveness. 

[43] Predictors of Confidence: Community Views in Victoria

For the final report in this series, the data were collected by the telephone survey conducted for the first phase of the survey. The analysis was based on the random sample of 1,200 Victorians.

Measures

The primary measure of interest in this analysis was people’s responses on a scale measuring confidence in the courts and sentencing. The individual items that were combined to form the scale were as follows:

· The individual judge is the best person to choose an appropriate sentence for each case.

· I am satisfied with the decisions that the courts make.

· I have confidence that judges impose an appropriate sentence most of the time.

· Judges are in touch with what ordinary people think.

· How confident are you that the penalties or punishments given to offenders are appropriate?

· How confident are you that the courts are effective at giving punishments that fit the crime?

· How confident are you generally in the courts and the legal system?

Once again, these questions were based on those used in other studies reported in the international literature.

Key Findings

In some respects, Victorians are quite satisfied with their courts: 59% reported being fairly or very confident in the courts and the legal system overall. However, there were also some inconsistencies in people’s responses. Only a quarter of respondents (28%) were satisfied with the decisions that the courts make, but more than half (54%) were confident that judges impose an appropriate sentence most of the time. 

Turning to the confidence scale as a whole, the 1,200 participants in this survey could be classified as having ‘moderate’ confidence in sentencing. Responses on the confidence scale ranged from a low of 7 to a maximum of 34, with a mean of just under 20.

The strongest predictor of confidence was punitiveness: people who were less punitive in general were also more confident about sentencing. People were also more likely to be confident if they were more accepting of information in the media and if they did not perceive crime to have increased. People with a higher income were more confident, as were younger people.

As with the report on predictors of punitiveness, path analysis was used in this report to allow a more detailed understanding of the indirect pathways that lead to confidence in the courts and sentencing.

The strongest indirect path to confidence in the courts and sentencing began with formal education, running through perceptions of crime to punitiveness and finally to confidence. People with fewer years of formal education were more likely to have perceived that crime had increased. People who perceived that crime had increased were more likely to be punitive, while people with high levels of punitiveness had low levels of confidence in the courts and sentencing.

[44] Six separate paths led to punitiveness. The strongest pathway to punitiveness was from perception of crime. Other significant pathways were found leading from politics, media use, formal education, worry about crime and evaluation of the media. Thus higher punitiveness was found for people who classified themselves as more right politically, used commercial/tabloid media, had fewer years of formal education, were more worried about crime and were more accepting of information presented by the media.

There were also six separate paths leading to perceptions of crime. The strongest pathway to perceptions of crime was from education, with fewer years of formal education being associated with greater perceptions of increasing crime. Other significant pathways were found leading from media use, politics, evaluation of the media, victimisation status and income. Thus, a perception of crime as increasing was found more commonly among those who used commercial/tabloid media, positioned themselves to the right of the political spectrum, were less accepting of information presented by the media, had been a victim of crime and had a lower income.

There are two main themes in the findings from this study. The first is that people’s general punitiveness plays the most substantial and significant role in predicting confidence in the courts and sentencing. The second is that perceptions of crime play a central role in predicting confidence indirectly, through punitiveness.

It is useful to consider the findings of this analysis in the context of the Council’s earlier reports in this series on community views of sentencing. The results of this study clearly show the link between confidence in the courts and sentencing, punitiveness and perceptions of crime. The prominence of this constellation of factors – confidence in the courts and sentencing, punitiveness and perceptions of crime – is found throughout the series of reports.

Community Attitudes to Offence Seriousness 

In May 2012, the Council released a research report on community attitudes to offence seriousness. The report presents key findings from a series of research and consultation panels with Victorian community members. 

We conducted the panels in 2010 as part of our project on maximum penalties for Crimes Bill offences. This project originated from a request from the then Attorney-General that we review and advise on the appropriateness of the maximum penalties for approximately 250 of the most serious criminal offences in Victoria to be included in a new Crimes Bill. 

A key component of this project was for the Council to gauge and take into account community attitudes towards relative offence seriousness. To this end, we conducted 14 community panels across metropolitan and regional Victoria to gather the views of individuals in the Victorian community on the relative seriousness of offences. We also conducted ‘Talksentencing’, an online forum on offence seriousness. 

The Council’s work on the maximum penalties for Crimes Bill offences has been placed on hold. However, the Council’s research on community attitudes to offence seriousness remains relevant, and the findings make an important contribution to our understanding of offence seriousness. 

The research informed the Council’s advice on our Baseline Sentencing project, a reference received from the Attorney-General in 2011. Offence seriousness plays a central role in the statutory and common law sentencing framework in Victoria; thus the research also has broader applications.

[45] Offence Seriousness

Offence seriousness is a complex concept that conveys different subjective meanings. In legal terms, it has traditionally been regarded as comprising two major components: harm and culpability. By virtue of the connection between offence seriousness and sentencing, sentencing practices and statutory maximum penalties can provide a useful guide to the legal conceptualisation of offence seriousness; however, a third source of relevant information is how members of the community view offence seriousness. 

The Council has developed a large body of work on public opinion and sentencing, under its statutory function of gauging public opinion on sentencing matters. However, there has been comparatively little research conducted to measure community attitudes on how offending behaviour should be characterised when offenders come before the courts to be sentenced. There have only been a handful of such studies conducted in the Victorian and Australian contexts. There is little evidence available on which offences the community views as serious, relative to other offences, and the factors that influence these judgments.

The Community Panels

Fourteen community panel sessions were conducted by the Council in July and August 2010 across metropolitan and regional locations in Victoria. 

The sessions used an original methodology developed with reference to previous research undertaken in this area. The panels consisted of multiple measures to collect data on community attitudes to: 

· the relative seriousness of a wide range of offences; and

· the factors that render an offence more or less serious.

The total sample size for the panels was 244 participants. This, together with the measures used, allowed for an intensive and deliberative process. The panels comprised two quantitative exercises that measured how participants judged the seriousness of offences relative to other offences. 

The first exercise was ‘paired comparisons’ where 10 offences were presented to participants in a series of pairs. Participants were required to select the most serious offence in each pair. 

The second exercise comprised the ranking of 40 offence vignettes using a scale of 1 to 10 (1 being the least serious and 10 being the most serious). The offence vignette ranking exercise also included a discussion component that provided qualitative data on the factors that influenced participants’ rankings. 

The sample, while not random, was representative of the Victorian population on many demographic variables, including age, gender and residential location. One difference of note is that the panel sample was more highly educated than the general Victorian population. 

The panels provided rich quantitative and qualitative data and gave community members the opportunity to participate in discussions on the issues surrounding relative offence seriousness. While not necessarily representative of the whole Victorian community, the panels provide a previously unavailable insight into the views of a group of Victorian community members. 

[46] Key Findings

The quantitative and qualitative results were analysed and the following five key findings identified: 

· Direct threats or harm to people were viewed as overall more serious than harms to property or indirect harms.

· There was a general consensus that offences involving the intentional infliction of death and serious injury are among the most serious offences. 

· There was a general consensus that sexual offences against young children are among the most serious offences.

· The factors of sexual motivation and personal invasion were consistently influential in attitudes to offence seriousness. 

· There was a lack of consensus on the seriousness of offences involving unintentional death and serious injury. This was primarily due to participants taking different approaches in balancing the harm and culpability of such offences.

These key findings were considered by the Council in determining the recommended baseline levels in its advice on the Baseline Sentencing project. 

As noted, the sample was not representative of the Victorian population on education level. However, this factor and other demographic factors did not have a significant effect on the differences of opinion expressed by participants. 

Overall, high levels of punitiveness (held by older and less educated participants) were significant predictors of the higher ranking of offence vignettes. However, these factors explained only a small proportion of the variation in rankings. 

The report concludes that, consistent with previous research, the harm and culpability characteristics of offending behaviour had the most significant influence on participants’ judgments of offence seriousness. Thus the harm and culpability framework reflected in other sources of information on offence seriousness – statutory maximum penalties and current sentencing practices – remains a useful and relevant framework through which to view offence seriousness. 

The scales of offence seriousness generated from participants’ judgments demonstrate a broad consistency with the harm and culpability scale evident in statutory maximum penalties and sentencing practices, whereby the seriousness of an offence increases according to an escalating scale of the harm caused by the behaviour and the offender’s blameworthiness for the behaviour.

Not all offences were viewed by participants according to this escalating scale, however. This framework also tended to be problematic when applied to some offences, such as offences that involve only a risk of harm (such as conduct endangering life), attempted offences and incitement offences.

The report also notes the effect of different measures, in particular, the level of information provided and scope for deliberation, on the process of judging offence seriousness. Participants gained a better understanding of the complex nature of judging offence seriousness and were able to provide more nuanced responses when given an opportunity to deliberate and when provided with a greater level of information on which to base their responses.

The deliberative nature of the process made the panels an intensive and challenging exercise. Each participant contributed considerable time and brought careful thought to the complex task of judging the seriousness of offences.

[47] Organisational Governance and Statutory Compliance

As a public entity, accountable and effective governance is required under the Financial Management Act 1994, the Public Administration Act 2004, the Audit Act 1994, and other applicable laws, regulations and directions from the Minister of Finance. 

The Council has undertaken to complete compliance certification under the Financial Management Certification Framework in conjunction with the Department of Justice.

Additional Information

The Council’s published reports and other public documents are all available online at <www.sentencingcouncil.vic.gov.au>. Any other relevant information in relation to the financial year is retained by the Accountable Officer and is available on request subject to freedom of information requirements and our privacy policy.

Audit and Finance Committee

The Sentencing Advisory Council and the Judicial College of Victoria have established a joint Audit and Finance Committee to oversee their financial operations. Due to their small size, the Council and the College have come together to maximise effective use of resources. During 2011–12, the Committee consisted of the following members:

· David Greenall (Chairperson – independent member);

· Karol Hill (independent member);

· David Jorgensen (independent member from November 2011);

· Prue Boughey (Sentencing Advisory Council representative to January 2012);

· Sally Hay (Sentencing Advisory Council representative from January 2012); and

· Julie Venturini (Judicial College of Victoria representative).

Anthony Phillips, a financial consultant, is the Council’s Chief Finance and Accounting Officer (CFAO) and attends Committee meetings by standing invitation, providing finance support as required. The chief executive officers of both organisations and a representative of the Victorian Auditor-General’s Office and the internal auditors, Pitcher Partners, also attend meetings by standing invitation.

[48] The Audit and Finance Committee undertakes the oversight of:

· financial performance and reporting processes, including the annual financial statements;

· the scope of work, performance and independence of the internal auditor;

· the scope of work, performance and independence of the external auditor;

· the operation and implementation of the risk management framework;

· matters of accountability and internal control affecting the operations of the Council;

· processes for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations; and

· selection, appointment and removal of the Council’s Chief Finance and Accounting Officer.

In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Committee has:

· reviewed the financial statements for the annual report and recommended them to the responsible bodies (or delegates) for approval;

· formally reviewed the Audit and Finance Committee (AFC) Charter, after the AFC members for the Sentencing Advisory Council and the Judicial College of Victoria had rewritten the Charter;

· reviewed the Chief Finance and Accounting Officer requirements and noted his self-assessment report;

· completed a Committee self-assessment and submitted a summary of the results to the entities;

· reviewed the risk register and noted that the risks were being appropriately addressed by management; and

· regularly reviewed the Chief Finance and Accounting Officer’s financial reports on the entities’ finances.

Comparative Financial Results

Table 2 summarises information on the financial results and financial position, prepared on an accrual basis, of the Sentencing Advisory Council for the financial year 2011–12 and comparisons with the preceding four financial years.

Compliance with the Building Act 1993

The Council does not own or control any government buildings insofar as the Council utilises building infrastructure and property services provided by the Department of Justice.

Environmental Management and Impacts

Operating within the context of the Department of Justice, the Council has adopted the Department’s environmental management policy, implementing efficient office recycling, waste management and energy efficiency practices. 

Some specific steps the Council has taken include:

· installing power timers on office equipment such as printers;

· having a standing item on the environment at staff meetings;

· encouraging staff to adopt systems to reduce unnecessary paper consumption;

· posting signage to remind staff to turn off lights and monitors; and

· collecting data on monthly paper consumption and reporting these to staff.

In terms of paper usage, the Council’s consumption of copy paper declined in 2011–12. For the 12 months to June 2012, secretariat staff used 361 reams of copy paper, an average of 22.4 reams per staff member. This is down from 382 reams in total or 23.9 reams per staff member in 2010–11. (Note that the number of staff for a financial year was determined using the average across the relevant twelve-month period.)

[49] Table 2: Financial results and position, 2007–08 to 2011–12

	
	Notes
	2011–12
$
	2010–11
$
	2009–10
$
	2008–09
$
	2007–08
$

	Income
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Grant from Department of Justice
	(a)
	2,162,400
	2,015,100
	1,904,200
	1,979,200
	1,476,512

	Other revenue
	
	
	
	
	
	223 

	Total Income
	
	2,162,400
	2,015,100
	1,904,200
	1,979,200
	1,476,735

	Expenses
	(b)
	2,136,034
	2,014,383
	1,837,711
	1,891,161
	1,476,877

	Other economic flows
	(c)
	(10,577)
	(112)
	822
	(8,520)
	–

	Net result for the period
	
	15,789
	605
	67,311
	79,519
	(142)

	Net cash flow from operating activities
	
	5,872
	–
	–
	–
	(2,256)

	Total assets
	(d)
	680,727
	530,617
	531,602
	496,122
	330,351

	Total liabilities
	(e)
	420,968
	308,847
	310,437
	342,268
	256,016


Notes – Movements between 2010–11 and 2011–12

(a)
Income received increased by $147,300 (7.3%). This increase reflects inflationary increases, one-off grant monies from the Department of Justice for a specific project and an amount carried forward from the previous year for a specific project.

(b)
Expenses increased by $121,651 (6%). This increase reflects inflationary increases and additional staff, contractor and professional services expenses for specific projects.

(c)
Other economic flows decreased by $10,465. This reflects gains and losses arising from revaluation of long service leave liability due to movements in bond rates.

(d)
Total assets increased by $150,110 (28.3%). This is a result of capital expenditure outlays and an increase in the amount receivable from the Department of Justice.

(e)
Total liabilities increased by $112,121 (36.3%). This is due to an increase in year end accruals, a lease liability and an increase in employee provisions.

[50] Financial Management

The Council abides by a financial code of practice that encompasses procurement, the use of assets and resources, potential conflicts of interest, secondary employment, financial gifts and gratuities. Employees are subject to the Department of Justice code of conduct (consistent with the Victorian public service code of conduct and the objectives of the Public Administration Act 2004), and regular financial reporting is scrutinised by internal audit provided by Pitcher Partners.

Freedom of Information

The Freedom of Information Act 1982 allows the public the right to access documents held by the Council. For the year ending 30 June 2012 there were no freedom of information applications.

Human Resource Management

The Council promotes the personal and professional development of its staff in order to achieve sustained improvements and to create satisfying career paths. The Council actively promotes safe work practices, career development, work–life balance and a friendly and non-discriminatory working environment.

Implementation of the Victorian Industry Participation Policy

The Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 requires public bodies and departments to report on the application of the Victorian industry participation policy in all tenders over $3 million in metropolitan Melbourne and $1 million in regional Victoria. While the Council uses local suppliers for goods and services, the policy does not apply to the Council due to the threshold of expenditure.

Industrial Relations

The Council enjoys a cooperative relationship with employee representative organisations. For the year ending 30 June 2012 no time was lost through industrial disputes or accidents.

Merit and Equity

Department of Justice merit and equity principles are applied in the appointment and management of staff, and the Council’s guiding principles are consistent with the public sector values and employment principles articulated in the Public Administration Act 2004.

Occupational Health and Safety

The Council has assigned an occupational health and safety (OHS) officer and OHS has been factored into the Council’s overall risk management framework. In addition to attending OHS presentations, all staff are provided with materials on the Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004 and with guides on ergonomic assessment. Staff also have access to ergonomic equipment and to assessments by qualified professionals, and all have participated in fire drill evacuation exercises. There were no claims of OHS related injury for the year ending 30 June 2012.

Outsourced Consultancies

There were no outsourced consultancies in excess of $10,000 for the year ending 30 June 2012. The Sentencing Advisory Council engaged only one consultant during this period. The total fee payable for this consultancy was $4,800 (excluding GST).

[51] Privacy

The Council manages personal information in accordance with the Information Privacy Act 2000 and our privacy policy. Regular reviews are carried out in relation to the recording of personal information to ensure that the Council is in compliance with regulations. There were no privacy-related complaints for the year ending 30 June 2012.

Risk Management

In accordance with DTF Standing Direction 4.5.5, the following attestation of compliance is made following agreement by the Audit and Finance Committee that such an assurance can be given:

I, Stephen Farrow (CEO), certify that the Sentencing Advisory Council has risk management processes in place consistent with the Australian/New Zealand Risk Management Standard AS/NZS ISO 31000 and an internal control system is in place that enables the executive to understand, manage and satisfactorily control risk exposures. The Audit and Finance Committee verifies this assurance and that the risk profile of the Sentencing Advisory Council has been critically reviewed within the last 12 months.

Stephen Farrow

Chief Executive Officer

Sentencing Advisory Council 

Social and Cultural Diversity

The Council acknowledges the importance of cultural diversity and endeavours to maintain an inclusive, consultative and open approach to its work. Diversity is enhanced through the selection criteria of Council members (appointed by the Attorney-General), staff recruitment, student research placements and a broad community consultation strategy that includes a diverse range of individuals and community groups.

Staff Development and Training

During 2011–12, the Council offered a wide range of programs to equip staff with the knowledge and skills required to perform their jobs successfully. Staff members were encouraged to extend their professional skills via:

· attendance at internal and external professional development courses in communication, policy development, finance, personal development, statistics and information technology;

· attendance and presentation of papers at relevant conferences; and 

· executive and management training programs.

Whistleblowers

The Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 encourages and facilitates disclosures of improper conduct by public officers and public bodies. For the year ending 30 June 2012 the Council was not subject to any complaints or disclosures.

[52] Disclosure Index

The Annual Report of the Sentencing Advisory Council is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian legislations and pronouncements. This index has been prepared to facilitate identification of the Council’s compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.

	Legislation
	Requirement
	Page Reference

	Report of Operations – FRD Guidance

	Charter and Purpose

	FRD 22C
	Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers
	6, 63, 89

	FRD 22C
	Objectives, functions, powers and duties
	6–7, 16, 28, 35, 39, 63

	FRD 22C
	Nature and range of services provided
	6–7

	Management and Structure

	FRD 22C
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	15
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	Disclosure index
	52–53
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	48
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	–
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	Application and operation of the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001
	51
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	Details of consultancies over $10,000
	50

	FRD 22C
	Details of consultancies under $10,000
	50

	[53] FRD 22C
	Statement of availability of other information
	47

	FRD 24C
	Reporting of office-based environmental impacts
	48
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	50

	FRD 29
	Workforce Data disclosures
	–

	SD 4.5.5
	Risk management compliance attestation
	51

	SD 4.2(g)
	General information requirements
	47

	SD 4.2(j)
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	51, 55, 57
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	SD 4.2(a)
	Statement of changes in equity
	60

	SD 4.2(b)
	Operating statement
	58

	SD 4.2(b)
	Balance sheet
	59

	SD 4.2(b)
	Cash flow statement
	61

	Other Requirements under Standing Directions 4.2

	SD 4.2(c)
	Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other authoritative pronouncements
	62, 71–75

	SD 4.2(c)
	Compliance with Ministerial Directions
	47–51

	SD 4.2(d)
	Rounding of amounts
	64, 95

	SD 4.2(c)
	Accountable officer’s declaration
	55

	SD 4.2(f)
	Compliance with Model Financial Report
	54, 95

	Other Disclosures as Required by FRDs in Notes to the Financial Statements

	FRD 9A
	Departmental disclosure of administered assets and liabilities
	59, 68–69

	FRD 11
	Disclosure of ex gratia payments
	–

	FRD 13
	Disclosure of parliamentary appropriations
	58

	FRD 21B
	Responsible person and executive officer disclosures
	89–92

	FRD 103D
	Non-current physical assets
	59

	FRD 104
	Foreign currency
	88

	FRD 106
	Impairment of assets
	–

	FRD 109
	Intangible assets
	–

	FRD 110
	Cash flow statements
	61, 89

	FRD 112C
	Defined benefit superannuation obligations
	83

	FRD 114A
	Financial Instruments – General Government entities and public non-financial corporations
	85–88
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[55] Accountable Officer’s, Chief Finance and Accounting Officer’s and Board Chairperson’s Declaration

The attached financial statements for the Sentencing Advisory Council have been prepared in accordance with Standing Directions 4.2 of the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting Standards, including Interpretations, and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and accompanying notes presents fairly the financial transactions during the year ended 30 June 2012 and financial position of the Council at 30 June 2012.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on 30 August 2012.

	Mr Stephen Farrow

Chief Executive Officer

Accountable Officer

Sentencing Advisory Council
	Mr Anthony Phillips

Chief Finance and Accounting Officer

Sentencing Advisory Council
	Prof. Arie Freiberg AM

Board Chairperson

Sentencing Advisory Council

	Melbourne

30 August 2012
	Melbourne

30 August 2012
	Melbourne

30 August 2012


[56] Auditor-General’s Report
VAGO

Victorian Auditor-General’s Office

Level 24, 35 Collins Street

Melbourne VIC 3000

Telephone 61 3 8601 7000

Facsimile 61 3 8601 7010

Email comments@audit.vic.gov.au
Website www.audit.vic.gov.au
INDEPPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Board Members, Sentencing Advisory Council

The Financial Report

The accompanying financial report for the year ended 30 June 2012 of the Sentencing Advisory Council which comprises the comprehensive operating statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information and the accountable officer’s chief finance and accounting officer’s and board chairperson’s declaration has been audited.

The Board Members’ Responsibility for the Financial Report

The Board Members of the Sentencing Advisory Council are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, and the financial reporting requirements of the Financial Management Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Board Members determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

AS required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on the audit, which has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The audit procedures selected depend on judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, In making those risk assessments, consideration is given to the internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board Members, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

[57] Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

Independence

The Auditor-General’s independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. The Auditor-General is not subject to direction by any person about the way in which his powers and responsibilities are to be exercised. In conducting the audit, the Auditor-General, his staff and delegates complied with all applicable independence requirements of the Australian accounting profession.
Opinion

In my opinion, the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Sentencing Advisory Council as at 30 June 2012 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with applicable Australian Accounting Standards, and the financial reporting requirements of the Financial Management Act 1994.

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Report
The auditor’s report relates to the financial report of the Sentencing Advisory Council for the year ended 30 June 2012 included both in the Sentencing Advisory Council’s annual report and on the website. The Board Members of the Sentencing Advisory Council are responsible for the integrity of the Sentencing Advisory Council’s website. I have not been engaged to report on the integrity of the Sentencing Advisory Council’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the subject matter described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these statements. If users of the financial report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial report to confirm the information contained in the website version of the financial report.

D D R Pearson

Auditor-General

MELBOURNE

31 August 2012
[58] Comprehensive Operating Statement for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2012

	
	Notes
	2012
$
	2011
$

	Income from transactions

	Grant from the Department of Justice
	2
	2,162,400
	2,015,100

	Total income from transactions 
	2,162,400
	2,015,100

	Expenses from transactions

	Employee expenses
	3(a) 
	1,612,563
	1,491,509

	Depreciation 
	3(b) 
	5,872
	–

	Interest expense
	3(c)
	687
	–

	Supplies and services
	3(d)
	516,912
	522,874

	Total expenses from transactions
	2,136,034
	2,014,383

	Net result from transactions (net operating balance)
	26,366
	717

	Other economic flows included in net result

	Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows
	4 
	(10,577)
	(112)

	Total other economic flows included in net result
	
	(10,577)
	(112)

	Net result 
	
	15,789
	605

	Comprehensive result
	
	15,789
	605


The comprehensive operating statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes included on pages 62–95.

[59] Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2012

	
	Notes
	2012
$
	2011
$

	Assets

	Financial assets

	Cash and deposits
	16(a)
	 500 
	 500

	Receivables
	5
	633,919
	522,421

	Total financial assets
	634,419
	522,921

	Non-financial assets

	Plant and equipment
	6
	46,308
	–

	Prepayments
	7
	–
	7,696

	Total non-financial assets
	46,308
	7,696

	Total assets
	680,727
	530,617

	Liabilities

	Payables
	8
	73,467
	13,705

	Borrowings
	9
	24,108
	–

	Employee benefits provisions
	10
	323,393
	295,142

	Total liabilities
	420,968
	308,847

	Net assets
	259,759
	221,770

	Equity

	Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
	(79,818)
	(95,607)

	Contributed capital
	339,577
	317,377

	Net worth
	259,759
	221,770

	– Commitments for expenditure
	13
	

	– Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
	14
	


The balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes included on pages 62–95.

[60] Statement of Changes in Equity for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2012

	
	Accumulated surplus
$
	Contribution
by owners
$
	Total
$

	Balance at 1 July 2010
	(96,212)
	317,377
	221,165

	Net result for year
	605
	–
	605

	Balance at 30 June 2011
	(95,607)
	317,377
	221,770

	Net result for year
	15,789
	
	15,789

	Capital appropriations
	
	22,200
	22,200

	Balance at 30 June 2012
	(79,818)
	339,577
	259,759


The statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes included on pages 62–95.

[61] Cash Flow Statement for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2012

	
	Note
	2012
$
	2011
$

	Cash flows from operating activities

	Receipts

	Receipts from the Department of Justice
	2,050,902
	2,023,781

	Total receipts
	2,050,902
	2,023,781

	Payments

	Payments to suppliers and employees
	(2,044,343)
	(2,023,781)

	Interest and other costs of finance paid
	(687)
	–

	Total payments
	(2,045,030)
	(2,023,781)

	Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities
	16(b)
	5,872
	–

	Cash flows from investing activities

	Payments

	Purchases of non-financial assets
	(25,127)
	–

	Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities
	(25,127)
	–

	Cash flows from financing activities

	Receipts

	Capital contributed during the year
	22,200
	–

	Total receipts
	22,200
	–

	Payments

	Repayment of finance leases
	(2,945)
	–

	Total payments
	(2,945)
	–

	Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities
	19,255
	–

	Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
	–
	–

	Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year
	500
	500

	Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year
	16(a)
	500
	500


The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes included on pages 62–95.

[62] Notes to the Financial Statements for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2012

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

These financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial statements for the Sentencing Advisory Council (SAC) for the period ending 30 June 2012. The purpose of the report is to provide users with information about SAC’s stewardship of resources entrusted to it.

(A) Statement of Compliance

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA) and applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) which include Interpretations, issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). In particular, they are presented in a manner consistent with the requirements of the AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting.

Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable to not-for-profit entities have been applied.

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other events is reported.

To obtain a better understanding of the terminology used in this report, a glossary of terms and style conventions can be found in Note 20.

The annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board Chairperson of SAC on 30 August 2012.

(B) Basis of Accounting Preparation and Measurement

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in the preparation of these financial statements whereby assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future periods that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in the application of the AASs that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to:

· The fair value of plant and equipment (refer Note 1(J)).

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, and prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention except for:
[63]
· non-financial physical assets which, subsequent to acquisition, are measured at a revalued amount being their fair value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent impairment loss. Revaluations are made with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amounts do not materially differ from their fair value.

(C) Reporting Entity

The financial statements cover SAC as an individual reporting entity.

SAC is an independent government-funded body established under Part 9A of the Sentencing Act 1991. The Council was formed to implement a key recommendation arising out of Professor Arie Freiberg’s 2002 review of sentencing in Victoria. The Pathways to Justice report recognised the need for a body that would allow properly informed public opinion to be taken into account in the sentencing process, as well as the dissemination of up-to-date and accurate sentencing data to assist judges in their role to promote consistency in sentencing outcomes.

Its principal address is:

Sentencing Advisory Council

4/436 Lonsdale Street

MELBOURNE VIC 3000

The financial statements include all the controlled activities of SAC.

A description of the nature of SAC’s functions and its principal activities is included in the Report of Operations on page 6, which does not form part of these financial statements.

Functions and Funding
SAC’s functions are set out in section 108C of the Sentencing Act 1991 and are to provide statistical information on sentencing, including information on current sentencing practices, to members of the judiciary and other interested persons; to conduct research, and disseminate information to members of the judiciary and other interested persons, on sentencing matters; to gauge public opinion on sentencing matters; to consult, on sentencing matters, with government departments and other interested persons and bodies as well as the general public; to advise the Attorney-General on sentencing matters; and to state in writing to the Court of Appeal its views in relation to the giving, or review, of a guideline judgment.

SAC is funded for the provision of outputs consistent with its statutory functions. Funds are from accrual-based grants derived from monies appropriated annually by parliament through the Department of Justice (DoJ).

(D) Scope and Presentation of Financial Statements

Comprehensive Operating Statement

Income and expenses in the comprehensive operating statement are classified according to whether or not they arise from ‘transactions’ or ‘other economic flows’. This classification is consistent with the Whole of Government reporting format and is allowed under AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements.

‘Transactions’ and ‘other economic flows’ are defined by the Australian System of Government Finance Statistics: Concepts, Sources and Methods 2005 and Amendments to Australian System of Government Finance Statistics, 2005 (ABS Catalogue No. 5514.0) (the GFS manual, refer to Note 20).

[64] ‘Transactions’ are those economic flows that are considered to arise as a result of policy decisions, usually interactions between two entities by mutual agreement. Transactions also include flows within an entity, such as depreciation where the owner is simultaneously acting as the owner of the depreciating asset and as the consumer of the service provided by the asset. Taxation is regarded as mutually agreed interactions between government and taxpayers. Transactions can be in kind (e.g. assets provided/given free of charge or for nominal consideration) or where the final consideration is in cash.

‘Other economic flows’ are changes arising from market remeasurements. They include:

· gains and losses from disposals.

The net result is equivalent to profit or loss derived in accordance with AASs.

Balance Sheet
Assets and liabilities are presented in liquidity order with assets aggregated into financial assets and non-financial assets.

Current and non-current assets and liabilities (non-current being those expected to be recovered or settled more than 12 months) are disclosed in the notes, where relevant.

Cash Flow Statement

Cash flows are classified according to whether or not they arise from operating, investing or financing activities. This classification is consistent with requirements under AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows.

Statement of Changes in Equity

The statement of changes in equity presents reconciliations of each non-owner and owner changes in equity from opening balance at the beginning of the reporting period to the closing balance at the end of the reporting period. It also shows separately changes due to amounts recognised in the ‘Comprehensive Result’ and amounts recognised in ‘Other Economic Flows – Other Movements in Equity’ related to ‘Transactions with Owner in Its Capacity as Owner’.

Rounding

Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar, unless otherwise stated. Please refer to Note 20 for a style convention explaining that minor discrepancies in totals are due to rounding.

(E) Income from Transactions

Income is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the income can be reliably measured at fair value.

Where applicable, amounts disclosed as income are net of returns, allowances, duties and taxes.

Income is recognised for SAC’s major activities as follows:

Grants from the Department of Justice

Income from the outputs SAC provides to the government is recognised when those outputs have been delivered and the relevant minister has certified delivery of those outputs in accordance with the specified performance criteria.

[65] Fair Value of Services Provided by the Department of Justice

The Department of Justice has been centrally funded for services it provides to SAC. These services are not recognised in the financial statements of SAC as their fair values can not be reliably determined. The services that are utilised include the use of the Department’s financial systems, payroll systems, accounts payable, asset register and IT network.

(F) Expenses from Transactions

Expenses from transactions are recognised as they are incurred, and reported in the financial year to which they relate.

Employee Expenses
These expenses include all costs related to employment (other than superannuation which is accounted for separately) including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, redundancy payments, and WorkCover premiums.

Superannuation

The amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement is the employer contributions for members of both defined benefit and defined contribution superannuation plans that are paid or payable during the reporting period.

The Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF) in their Annual Financial Statements, disclose on behalf of the state as the sponsoring employer, the net defined benefit cost related to the members of these plans as an administered liability. Refer to DTF’s Annual Financial Statements for more detailed disclosures in relation to these plans.

Depreciation

All plant, equipment and motor vehicles that have a finite useful life are depreciated. Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. Refer to Note 1(J) for depreciation policy on leasehold improvements.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, and adjustments made where appropriate.

The following are typical estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for both current and prior years:

	Asset class
	Useful life

	Plant and equipment
	2 to 15 years

	Motor vehicles
	2 years


Interest Expense
Interest expense is recognised in the period in which it is incurred and comprises finance lease charges.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations.

Supplies and Services
Supplies and services costs are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

[66] (G) Other Economic Flows Included in Net Result

Other economic flows measure the change in volume or value of assets or liabilities that do not result from transactions.

Net Gain/Loss on Non-financial Assets

Net gain/loss on non-financial assets and liabilities includes realised and unrealised gains and losses as follows:

Other Gains/(Losses) from Other Economic Flows

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows include the gains and losses from:

· the revaluation of the present value of the long service leave liability due to changes in the bond interest rates.

Impairment of Non-financial Assets

Non-financial assets are assessed annually for impairment. If there is an indication of impairment, the assets concerned are tested as to whether their carrying value exceeds their recoverable amount. Where an asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount, the difference is written off as an other economic flow, except to the extent that the write-down can be debited to an asset revaluation surplus amount applicable to that class of asset.

Refer to Note 1(J) in relation to the recognition and measurement of non-financial assets.

(H) Financial Instruments

Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of SAC’s activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise from statute rather than a contract. Such financial assets and financial liabilities do not meet the definition of financial instruments in AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. For example, statutory payables arising from taxes do not meet the definition of financial instruments as they do not arise under contract.

Where relevant, for note disclosure purposes, a distinction is made between those financial assets and financial liabilities that meet the definition of financial instruments in accordance with AASB 132 and those that do not.

The following refers to financial instruments unless otherwise stated.

Categories of Non-derivative Financial Instruments

Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are financial instrument assets with fixed and determinable payments that are not quoted on an active market. These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial measurement, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Loans and receivables category includes cash and deposits (refer to Note 1(I)) but not statutory receivables.

Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost

Financial instrument liabilities are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. [67] Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial instruments are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the period of the interest-bearing liability, using the effective interest rate method.

Financial instrument liabilities measured at amortised cost include all contractual payables and interest-bearing arrangements other than those designated at fair value through the profit and loss.

(I) Financial Assets

Cash and Deposits
Cash and deposits, including cash equivalents, comprise cash on hand.

Receivables

Receivables consist predominantly of amounts owing from the Department of Justice. Receivables that are contractual are classified as financial instruments. Amounts owing from the Department of Justice/Victorian Government are statutory receivables that are not classified as financial instruments.

Impairment of Financial Assets
At the end of each reporting period, SAC assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. All financial instrument assets, except those measured at fair value through profit and loss, are subject to annual review for impairment.

In assessing impairment of statutory (non-financial) financial assets, which are not financial instruments, professional judgement is applied in assessing materiality using estimates, averages, and other computational methods in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets.

(J) Non-financial Assets

Plant and Equipment

All non-financial physical assets are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment.

The initial cost for non-financial assets under a finance lease (refer to Note 1(L)) is measured at amounts equal to the fair value of the lease asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease.

The fair value of plant, equipment and vehicles is normally determined by reference to the asset’s depreciated replacement cost. Existing depreciated historical cost is generally a reasonable proxy for depreciated replacement cost because of the short life of the assets concerned.

For the accounting policy on impairment of non-financial assets, refer to impairment of non-financial assets under Note 1(G) ‘Impairment of Non-financial Assets’.

Leasehold Improvements

The cost of a leasehold improvements is capitalised as an asset and depreciated over the shorter of the remaining term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the improvements.

[68] Other Non-financial Assets

Prepayments

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or that part of expenditure made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.

(K) Liabilities

Payables

Payables consist of:

· contractual payables, such as accounts payable and other sundry liabilities. Accounts payable represent liabilities for goods and services provided to SAC prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid, and arise when SAC becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of those goods and services.

· statutory payables, such as goods and services tax and fringe benefits tax payables.

Contractual payables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as financial liabilities at amortised cost (refer to Note 1(H)). Statutory payables are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not classified as financial instruments and are not included in the category of financial liabilities at amortised cost, because they do not arise from a contract.

Borrowings

All interest-bearing liabilities are initially measured at fair value of the consideration received, less directly attributable transaction costs (refer also to Note 1(L) ‘Leases’). The measurement basis subsequent to initial recognition depends on whether SAC has categorised its interest-bearing liabilities as either financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss or financial liabilities at amortised cost. Any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value is recognised in net result over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest method.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when SAC has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a liability is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows, using discount rate that reflects the time value of money and risks specific to the provision.

Employee Benefits

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave for services rendered to the reporting date.

(i) Wages and Salaries, Annual Leave and Sick Leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave are recognised in the provision for employee benefits, classified [69] as current liabilities. Those liabilities which are expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting period are measured at their nominal values.

Those liabilities that are not expected to be settled within 12 months are also recognised in the provision for employee benefits as current liabilities, but are measured at present value of the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

(ii) Long Service Leave

Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.

Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current liability, even where SAC does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months.

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:

· nominal value – component that SAC expects to settle within 12 months; and

· present value – component that SAC does not expect to settle within 12 months.

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. This non-current liability is measured at present value.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond interest rates for which it is then recognised as an other economic flow (refer to Note 1(G)).

Employee Benefits On-costs

Employee benefits on-costs such as payroll tax, workers compensation and superannuation are recognised separately from the provision for employee benefits.

(L) Leases

A lease is a right to use an asset for an agreed period of time in exchange for payment.

Leases are classified at inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance of the agreement so as to reflect the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Leases of plant and equipment are classified as finance infrastructure leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership from lessor to lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Finance Leases

SAC as Lessee

At the commencement of the lease term, finance leases are initially recognised as assets and liabilities at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payment, each determined at the inception of the lease. The lease asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the term of the lease.

Minimum finance lease payments are apportioned between reduction of the outstanding lease liability, and periodic finance expense which is calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease and charged directly to the comprehensive operating statement.

[70] (M) Equity

Contribution by Owners

Additions to net assets which have been designated as contributions by owners are recognised as contributed capital. Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions or distributions have also been designated as contributions by owners.

Transfers of net assets arising from administrative restructurings are treated as distributions to or contributions by owners. Transfers of net liabilities arising from administrative restructurings are treated as distributions to owners.

(N) Commitments

Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising from contracts. These commitments are disclosed by way of note (refer to Note 13) at their nominal value and inclusive of the goods and services tax (GST) payable. In addition, where it is considered appropriate and provides additional relevant information for users, the net present values of significant individual projects are stated. The future expenditures cease to be disclosed as commitments once the related liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet.

(O) Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet, but are disclosed by way of a note (refer to Note 14) and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.

(P) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, except where GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated exclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The Department of Justice (DoJ) manages the GST transactions on behalf of SAC and the net amount of GST recoverable from or payable to the Australian Taxation Office is recognised in the financial statements of DoJ.

(Q) Events after the Reporting Date

Assets, liabilities, income or expenses arise from past transactions or other past events. Where the transactions result from an agreement between SAC and other parties, the transactions are only recognised when the agreement is irrevocable at or before the end of the reporting period. Adjustments are made to amounts recognised in the financial statements for events which occur after the reporting date and before the date the financial statements are authorised for issue, where those events provide information about conditions which existed in the reporting period. Note disclosure is made about events between the end of the reporting period and the date the financial statements are authorised for issue where the events relate to conditions which arose after the end of the reporting period and which may have a material impact on the results of subsequent years.

[71] (R) AASs Issued That Are Not Yet Effective

Certain new AASs have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2012 reporting period. The Department of Treasury and Finance assesses the impact of these new standards and advises departments and other entities of their applicability and early adoption where applicable.

As at 30 June 2012, the following standards and interpretations that are applicable to SAC had been issued but were not mandatory for the financial year ending 30 June 2012. Standards and interpretations that are not applicable to SAC have been omitted. SAC has not early adopted these standards.

	Standard/
Interpretation
	Summary
	Applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on
	Impact on SAC financial statements

	AASB 9 Financial Instruments
	This standard simplifies requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets resulting from Phase 1 of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement).
	1 January 2013 
	Detail of impact is still being assessed.

	AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement
	This standard outlines the requirements for measuring the fair value of assets and liabilities and replaces the existing fair value definition and guidance in other AASs. AASB 13 includes a ‘fair value hierarchy’ which ranks the valuation technique inputs into three levels using unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, other observable inputs and unobservable inputs.
	1 January 2013 
	Disclosure for fair value measurements using unobservable inputs is relatively onerous compared to disclosure for fair value measurements using observable inputs. Consequently, the Standard may increase the disclosure for public sector entities that have assets measured using depreciated replacement cost but currently SAC does not have any assets measured using this method.

	[72] AASB 119 Employee Benefits
	In this revised Standard for defined benefit superannuation plans, there is a change to the methodology in the calculation of superannuation expenses, in particular there is now a change in the split between superannuation interest expense (classified as transactions) and actuarial gains and losses (classified as ‘Other Economic Flows – Other Movements in Equity’) reported on the comprehensive operating statement.
	1 January 2013 
	Not-for-profit entities are not permitted to apply this Standard prior to the mandatory application date. While the total superannuation expense is unchanged, the revised methodology is expected to have a negative impact on the net result from transactions of the general government sector and for those few Victorian public sector entities that report superannuation defined benefit plans.

	AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards
	This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements for preparing general purpose financial statements.
	1 July 2013 
	The Victorian Government is currently considering the impacts of Reduced Disclosure Requirements (RDRs) for certain public sector entities and has not decided if RDRs will be implemented to the Victorian public sector.

	AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 and 1038 and Interpretations 10 and 12)
	This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issuance of AASB 9.
	1 January 2013 
	No significant impact is expected from these consequential amendments on SAC reporting.

	[73] AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements
	This Standard makes amendments to many Australian Accounting Standards, including Interpretations, to introduce reduced disclosure requirements to the pronouncements for application by certain types of entities.
	1 July 2013 
	The Victorian Government is currently considering the impacts of Reduced Disclosure Requirements (RDRs) for certain public sector entities and has not decided if RDRs will be implemented in the Victorian public sector.

	AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) (AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 and 1038 and Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 and 127)
	These consequential amendments are in relation to the introduction of AASB 9.
	1 January 2013 
	No significant impact is expected from these consequential amendments on SAC reporting.

	AASB 2011-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key Management Personnel Disclosure 
Requirements (AASB 124)
	The standard amends AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures by removing disclosure requirements in AASB 124 in relation to individual key management personnel (KMP).
	1 July 2013 
	No significant impact is expected from these consequential amendments on SAC reporting.

	AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 (AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 and 1038 and Interpretations 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 and 132)
	The amending Standard makes consequential changes to a range of Standards and Interpretations arising from the issuance of AASB 13. In particular, this Standard replaces the existing definition and guidance of fair value measurements in other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations.
	1 January 2013 
	Disclosures of fair value measurements using unobservable inputs are potentially onerous, and may increase disclosures for assets measured using depreciated replacement cost.

	[74] AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income (AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 1023 and 1039 and 1049)
	The main change resulting from this Standard is a requirement for entities to group items presented in other comprehensive income (OCI) on the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments). These amendments do not remove the option to present profit or loss and other comprehensive income in two statements, nor change the option to present items of OCI either before tax or net of tax.
	1 July 2012 
	The amending Standard could change the current presentation of ‘Other Economic Flows – Other Movements in Equity’ that will be grouped on the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently. No other significant impact will be expected.

	AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 2011) (AASB 1, AASB 8, AASB 101, AASB 124, AASB 134, AASB 1049 and AASB 2011-8 and Interpretation 14)
	The Standard makes consequential changes to a range of other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretation arising from the issuance of AASB 119 Employee Benefits.
	1 January 2013 
	No significant impact is expected from these consequential amendments on SAC reporting.

	AASB 2011-11 Amendments to AASB 119 (September 2011) arising from Reduced Disclosure
Requirements
	This Standard makes amendments to AASB 119 Employee Benefits (September 2011), to incorporate reduced disclosure requirements into the Standard for entities applying Tier 2 requirements in preparing general purpose financial statements.
	1 July 2013 
	The Victorian Government is currently considering the impacts of Reduced Disclosure Requirements (RDRs) and has not decided if RDRs will be implemented in the Victorian public sector.

	[75] 2011-13 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard – Improvements to AASB 1049
	This Standard aims to improve the AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting at the operational level. The main amendments clarify a number of requirements in AASB 1049, including the amendment to allow disclosure of other measures of key fiscal aggregates as long as they are clearly distinguished from the key fiscal aggregates and do not detract from the information required by AASB 1049. Furthermore this Standard provides additional guidance and examples on the classification between ‘transactions’ and ‘other economic flows’ for GAAP items without GFS equivalents.
	1 July 2012 
	No significant impact is expected from these consequential amendments on SAC reporting.

	2012-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Measurement –
Reduced Disclosure Requirements (AASB 3, AASB 7, AASB 13, AASB 140 and AASB 141)
	This amending Standard prescribes the reduced disclosure requirements in a number of Australian Accounting Standards as a consequence of the issuance of AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement.
	1 July 2013 
	As the Victorian Whole of Government and the General Government (GG) sector are subject to Tier 1 reporting requirements (refer to AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards), the reduced disclosure requirements included in AASB 2012-1 will not affect the financial reporting for Victorian Whole of Government and GG sector.


[76] Note 2. Income from Transactions

	
	2012
$
	2011
$

	Grants
	
	

	Department of Justice
	2,162,400
	2,015,100

	Total grants
	2,162,400
	2,015,100

	Total income
	2,162,400
	2,015,100


Note 3. Expenses from Transactions

	
	
	2012
$
	2011
$

	(a)
	Employee expenses

	
	Post employment benefits:

	
	– Defined contribution superannuation expenses
	120,164
	110,325

	
	Salary, wages and long service leave
	1,411,972
	1,306,053

	
	Other on-costs (fringe benefits tax, payroll tax and workcover levy)
	80,427
	75,131

	
	Total employee expenses (i)
	1,612,563
	1,491,509

	(b)
	Depreciation

	
	Plant and equipment
	2,773
	–

	
	Motor vehicles
	3,099
	–

	
	Total depreciation and amortisation
	5,872
	–

	(c)
	Interest expense

	
	Interest on finance leases
	687
	–

	
	Total interest expense
	687
	–

	(d)
	Supplies and services

	
	– Purchase of supplies and consumables
	101,743
	77,917

	
	– Purchase of services (i)
	255,435
	306,291

	
	– Maintenance
	14,536
	13,223

	
	– Rent
	145,198
	125,443

	
	Total supplies and services
	516,912
	522,874

	
	Note:

(i) Staff training has been classified as a purchase of services whereas in prior years it was classified as employee expenses. The prior year comparative has been adjusted.


[77] Note 4. Other Economic Flows Included in Net Result

	
	2012
$
	2011
$

	Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows

	Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of long service liability
	(10,577)
	(112)

	Total other gains/(losses) from other economic flows
	(10,577)
	(112)


Note 5. Receivables

	
	2012
$
	2011
$

	Current receivables

	Statutory

	Amount owing from the Department of Justice (i)
	543,027
	464,533

	Total current receivables
	543,027
	464,533

	Non-current receivables

	Statutory

	Amount owing from the Department of Justice (i)
	90,892
	57,889

	Total non-current receivables
	90,892
	57,889

	Total receivables
	633,919
	522,421

	Note:

(i) The amounts recognised from the Department of Justice/Victorian Government represent funding for all commitments incurred through the appropriations and are drawn from the Consolidated Fund as the commitments fall due. (Appropriations are amounts owed by the Department of Justice/Victorian Government as legislated in the Appropriations Act. Due to the existence of legislative instrument, the appropriation receivable to an entity is statutory in nature, and hence not within the scope of the financial instruments standards.)


[78] Note 6. Plant and Equipment

Classification by ‘Public Safety and Environment’ Purpose Group (I)
Table 6.1: Carrying Amounts

	
	2012
$
	2011
$

	Plant and equipment
	
	

	Leasehold fitout at fair value
	22,354
	–

	Motor vehicle under finance lease
	
	

	Motor vehicles under finance lease at fair value
	23,954
	–

	Net carrying amount of plant and equipment
	46,308
	–


(I) Plant and equipment is classified primarily by the ‘purpose’ for which the assets are used, according to one of the six ‘Purpose Groups’ based upon Government Purpose Classification (GPC). All assets within a purpose group are further subcategorised according to the asset’s nature (i.e. buildings, plant and equipment, etc) with each subcategory being classified as a separate class of asset for financial reporting purposes.

Table 6.2: Gross Carrying Amounts and Accumulated Depreciation

	
	Gross carrying amount
	Accumulated depreciation
	Net carrying
amount

	
	2012
$
	2011
$
	2012
$
	2011
$
	2012
$
	2011
$

	Leasehold fitout at fair value
	471,800
	446,673
	449,446
	446,673
	22,354
	–

	Motor vehicles under finance lease at fair value
	27,053
	–
	3,099
	–
	23,954
	–

	
	498,853
	446,673
	452,545
	446,673
	46,308 
	–


[79] Table 6.3: Classification by ‘Public Safety and Environment’ Purpose Group – Movements in Carrying Amount

	
	Leasehold fitout
at fair value
	Motor vehicle under finance lease at fair value
	Total

	
	2012
$
	2011
$
	2012
$
	2011
$
	2012
$
	2011
$

	Opening balance 
	–
	–
	–
	–
	–
	–

	Additions
	25,127
	–
	27,053
	–
	52,180
	–

	Disposals
	–
	–
	–
	–
	–
	–

	Depreciation
	2,773
	–
	3,099
	–
	5,872
	–

	Closing balance
	22,354
	–
	23,954
	–
	46,308
	–


Table 6.4: Aggregate depreciation recognised as an expense during the year (i)

	
	2012
$
	2011
$

	Leasehold fitout at fair value
	2,773
	–

	Motor vehicle under lease at fair value
	3,099
	–

	
	5,872
	–

	Note:

(i) The useful lives of assets as stated in Policy Note 1(F) are used in the calculation of depreciation




Note 7. Prepayments

	
	2012
$
	2011
$

	Current other assets
	
	

	Prepayments
	–
	7,696

	Total current other assets
	–
	7,696 

	Total other assets
	–
	7,696


[80] Note 8. Payables

	
	2012
$
	2011
$

	Current payables
	
	

	Contractual
	
	

	Supplies and services
	66,645
	13,705

	Other payables
	6,500
	–

	
	73,145
	13,705

	Statutory
	
	

	Taxes payable
	322
	–

	Total payables
	73,467
	13,705


(a) Maturity analysis of contractual payables

Refer to Table 15.2 in Note 15 for the maturity analyses of contractual payables.

(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from contractual payables

Refer to Note 15 for the nature and extent of risks arising from contractual payables.

Note 9. Borrowings

	
	2012
$
	2011
$

	Current borrowings
	
	

	Lease liabilities (i)
	7,394
	–

	Total current borrowings
	7,394
	–

	Non-current borrowings
	
	

	Lease liabilities (i)
	16,714
	–

	Total non-current borrowings
	16,714
	–

	Total borrowings
	24,108
	–

	Note:

(i) Secured by assets leased. Finance leases are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default.




[81] (a) Maturity Analysis of Borrowings

Refer to Table 15.2 in Note 15 for the maturity analyses of borrowings.

(b) Nature and Extent of Risk Arising from Borrowings

Refer to Table 15.3 in Note 15 for the nature and extent of risks arising from borrowings.

(c) Defaults and Breaches

During the current and prior year, there were no defaults and breaches of any of the loans.

Note 10. Employee Benefits Provisions

	
	2012
$
	2011
$

	Current provisions
	
	

	Employee benefits (i) (Note 10(a)) – annual leave
	
	

	Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months (ii)
	38,658
	39,248

	Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (iii)
	5,285
	2,693

	Employee benefits (i) (Note 10(a)) – long service leave
	
	

	Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months (ii)
	76,291
	71,513

	Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (iii)
	75,983
	85,789

	
	196,217
	199,243

	Provisions related to employee benefit on-costs (Note 10(a) and Note 10(b))
	
	

	Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months (ii)
	23,355
	26,874

	Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (iii)
	12,929
	11,136

	
	36,284
	38,010

	Total current provisions
	232,501
	237,253

	Non-current provisions
	
	

	Employee benefits (i) (Note 10(a))
	79,077
	50,430

	Employee benefit on-costs (Note 10(a) and Note 10(b))
	11,815
	7,459

	Total non-current provisions
	90,892
	57,889

	Total employee benefits provisions
	323,393
	295,142


[82]
	
	
	2012
$
	2011
$

	(a)
	Employee benefits (i) and related on-costs

	
	Current employee benefits
	
	

	
	Annual leave entitlements
	43,943
	41,941

	
	Long service leave entitlements
	152,274
	157,302

	
	Non-current employee benefits
	
	

	
	Long service leave entitlements
	79,077
	50,430

	
	Total employee benefits
	275,294
	249,673

	
	Current on-costs
	36,284
	38,010

	
	Non-current on-costs
	11,815
	7,459

	
	Total on-costs
	48,099
	45,469

	
	Total employee benefits and related on-costs
	323,393
	295,142

	
	Notes:

(i) Provisions for employee benefits consist of amounts for annual leave and long service leave accrued by employees, not including on-costs.

(ii) The amounts disclosed are nominal amounts.

(iii) The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values.

	(b)
	Movement in employee benefits provisions

	
	
	On-costs
	Total

	
	
	2012
$
	2012
$

	
	Opening balance
	45,469
	45,469

	
	Additional provisions recognised
	27,703
	27,703

	
	Reductions arising from payments/other sacrifices of future economic benefits
	(25,073)
	(25,073)

	
	Closing balance
	48,099
	48,099

	
	Current
	36,284
	36,284

	
	Non-current
	11,815
	11,815

	
	
	48,099
	48,099


[83] Note 11. Superannuation

Employees of SAC are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and SAC contributes solely to defined contribution plans.

Superannuation contributions paid or payable for the reporting period are included as part of employee benefits in the comprehensive operating statement of SAC.

The name, details and amount expensed in relation to the major employee superannuation funds and contributions made by SAC are as follows:

	
	Paid contribution for the year
	Contribution outstanding at year end

	Fund
	2012
$
	2011
$
	2012
$
	2011
$

	Defined contribution plans
	
	
	
	

	VicSuper 
	100,541
	92,077
	–
	–

	Other
	19,623
	18,248
	–
	–

	Total
	120,164
	110,325
	–
	–


[84] Note 12. Leases

Disclosure for Lessees – Finance Leases

Leasing Arrangements

Finance leases relate to motor vehicles with a lease term of 24 months. SAC has options to purchase the equipment for a nominal amount at the conclusion of the lease.

	
	Minimum future
lease payments
	Present value of minimum future
lease payments

	
	2012
$
	2011
$
	2012
$
	2011
$

	Finance lease liabilities payable
	
	
	
	

	Not longer than one year
	8,716
	–
	7,394
	–

	Longer than one year and not longer than five years
	17,263
	–
	16,714
	–

	Longer than five years
	–
	–
	–
	–

	Minimum future lease payments*
	25,979
	–
	24,108
	–

	Less future finance charges
	1,871
	–
	–
	–

	Present value of minimum lease payments
	24,108
	–
	24,108
	–

	Included in the financial statements as:
	
	
	

	Current borrowings lease liabilities (Note 9)
	
	7,394
	–

	Non-current borrowings lease liabilities (Note 9)
	
	16,714
	–

	
	
	
	24,108
	–

	* Minimum future lease payments include the aggregate of all lease payments and any guaranteed residual.


Disclosure for Lessees –Operating Leases

There were no commitments for operating leases as at 30 June 2012 ($Nil – 2011).

Note 13. Commitments for Expenditure

(A) Capital Expenditure Commitments

There were no commitments for capital expenditure as at 30 June 2012 ($Nil – 2011).

(B) Lease Commitments

Finance lease and non-cancellable operating lease commitments are disclosed in Note 12.

Note 14. Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities

At balance date there were no contingent assets or liabilities not provided for in the balance sheet as at 30 June 2012 ($Nil – 2011).

[85] Note 15. Financial Instruments

(A)
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

SAC’s principal financial instruments comprise:

· cash assets;

· payables (excluding statutory payables); and

· finance lease payables.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement, and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, with respect to each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument above are disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements.

The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudently manage SAC’s financial risks within the government policy parameters.

SAC’s main financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. SAC manages these financial risks in accordance with its financial risk management policy.

SAC uses different methods to measure and manage the different risks to which it is exposed. Primary responsibility for the identification and management of financial risks rests with the management team of SAC.

The carrying amount of SAC’s contractual financial assets and financial liabilities by category are disclosed in Table 15.1 below.

Table 15.1: Categorisation of Financial Instruments

	2012
	Contractual financial assets – cash, loans and receivables

$
	Contractual financial liabilities at amortised cost

$
	Total

$

	Contractual financial assets
	
	
	

	Cash and deposits
	500
	–
	500

	Total contractual financial assets (i)
	500
	–
	500

	Contractual financial liabilities
	
	
	

	Payables
	
	
	

	Supplies and services
	–
	66,645
	66,645

	Other payables
	–
	6,500
	6,500

	Borrowings
	
	
	

	Lease liabilities
	–
	24,108
	24,108

	Total contractual financial liabilities (i)
	–
	97,253
	97,253

	[86] 2011
	
	
	

	Contractual financial assets
	
	
	

	Cash and deposits
	500
	–
	500

	Total contractual financial assets (i)
	500
	–
	500

	Contractual financial liabilities

	Payables
	
	
	

	Supplies and services
	–
	13,705
	13,705

	Other payables
	–
	–
	–

	Borrowings
	
	
	

	Lease liabilities
	–
	–
	–

	Total contractual financial liabilities (i)
	–
	13,705
	13,705

	Note:

(i) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian Government and GST input tax credit recoverable, and taxes payable).


(B)
Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from the contractual financial assets of SAC, which comprise cash and deposits and non-statutory receivables.

SAC’s exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of a counter party on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to SAC. Credit risk is measured at fair value and is monitored on a regular basis.

Credit risk associated with SAC’s contractual financial assets is minimal because the only debtor is the Department of Justice.

(C)
Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that SAC would be unable to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due. SAC operates under the government fair payments policy of settling financial obligations within 30 days and in the event of a dispute, making payments within 30 days from the date of resolution.

SAC’s maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as disclosed in the face of the balance sheet. SAC manages its liquidity risk by careful maturity planning of its financial obligations based on forecasts of future cash flows.

SAC’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.

The following table discloses the contractual maturity analysis for SAC’s contractual financial liabilities:

[87] Table 15.2: Maturity Analysis of Financial Liabilities

	
	
	
	Maturity dates (i)

	2012
	Carrying amount
	Nominal amount
	Less than 1 month
	1 to 3 months
	3 months
to 1 year
	1 to 5 years

	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Payables (ii)
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Supplies and services
	66,645
	66,645
	66,645
	–
	–
	–

	Other payables
	6,500
	6,500
	6,500
	–
	–
	–

	Borrowings
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Lease liabilities
	24,108
	25,979
	726
	1,453
	6,537
	17,263

	Total
	97,253
	99,124
	73,871
	1,453
	6,537
	17,263

	2011
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Payables (ii)
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Supplies and services 
	13,705
	13,705
	13,705
	–
	–
	–

	Other payables
	–
	–
	–
	–
	–
	–

	Borrowings
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Lease liabilities
	–
	–
	–
	–
	–
	–

	Total
	13,705
	13,705
	13,705
	–
	–
	–

	Notes:

(i) Maturity analysis is presented using the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

(ii) The carrying amounts disclosed exclude statutory amounts (e.g. taxes payable).


[88] (D)
Market Risk

SAC’s exposure to market risk is primarily through interest rate risk. The exposure to interest rate risk is insignificant and arises through SAC’s borrowings.

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to interest rates are set out in the following table:

Table 15.3: Interest Rate Exposure of Financial Instruments

	2012
	Weighted average effective interest rate

%
	Carrying amount

$
	Fixed interest rate

$
	Variable interest rate

$
	Non-interest-bearing

$

	Cash and deposits
	–
	500
	–
	–
	500

	Total financial assets (i) 
	
	500
	–
	–
	500

	Payables (i)
	–
	73,145
	–
	–
	73,145

	Borrowings
	6.37
	24,108
	24,108
	–
	–

	Total financial liabilities 
	
	97,253
	24,108
	–
	73,145

	2011
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and deposits
	–
	500
	–
	–
	500

	Total financial assets (i)
	
	500
	–
	–
	500

	Payables (i)
	–
	13,705
	–
	–
	13,705

	Borrowings
	–
	–
	–
	–
	–

	Total financial liabilities
	
	13,705
	–
	–
	13,705

	Note:

(i) The carrying amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Department of Justice/Victorian Government and taxes payable).


(E)
Foreign Currency Risk

SAC has no exposure to foreign currency risk.

(F)
Fair Values

SAC considers that the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements to be a fair approximation of their fair values because of the short term nature of the financial instruments and the expectation that they will be paid in full.

[89] Note 16. Cash Flow Information

	
	
	2012
$
	2011
$

	(a)
	Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

	
	Total cash and deposits disclosed in the balance sheet
	500
	500

	
	Balance as per cash flow statement
	500
	500

	(b)
	Reconciliation of net result for the period

	
	Net result for the period
	15,789
	605

	
	Non-cash movements
	
	

	
	Depreciation of non-current assets
	5,872
	–

	
	Movements in assets and liabilities
	
	

	
	(Increase)/decrease in receivables
	(111,497)
	8,681

	
	(Increase)/decrease in other non-financial assets
	7,696
	(7,696)

	
	Increase/(decrease) in payables
	59,761
	(63,802)

	
	Increase/(decrease) in provisions
	28,251
	62,212

	
	Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities
	5,872
	–


Note 17. Responsible Persons

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994, the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.

Names

Ministers and the Department

The persons who held the positions of Ministers and Secretary of the Department are as follows:

	Attorney-General
	The Hon. Robert Clark, MP
	1 July 2011 to
30 June 2012

	Acting Attorney-General
	The Hon. Andrew McIntosh, MP
	23 December 2011 to
15 January 2012

	
	The Hon. Andrew McIntosh, MP
	5 April 2012 to
10 April 2012

	Secretary to the
Department of Justice
	Ms Penny Armytage
	1 July 2011 to
30 June 2012

	Acting Secretary to the Department of Justice
	Dr Claire Noone
	3 September 2011 to
3 October 2011

	
	Dr Claire Noone
	6 February 2012 to
10 February 2012


[90] Sentencing Advisory Council

The persons who were Responsible Persons of SAC for the reporting period are as follows:

	Accountable Officer
	
	

	Chief Executive Officer
	Mr Stephen Farrow
	1 July 2011
to 30 June 2012

	Acting Chief Executive Officer
	Dr Karen Gelb
	2 April 2012
to 13 April 2012

	Statutory Office Holders
	
	

	Board Chairperson
	Professor Arie Freiberg AM
	1 July 2011 to
30 June 2012

	Council members
	Ms Carmel Arthur
	1 July 2011 to
30 June 2012

	
	Mr Graham Ashton AM APM
	21 February 2012 to
30 June 2012

	
	Mr Hugh de Kretser
	1 July 2011 to

30 June 2012

	
	Mr Peter Dikschei
	1 January 2012 to
30 June 2012

	
	Mr David Grace QC
	1 July 2011 to
30 June 2012

	
	Mr John Griffin PSM
	21 February 2012 to
30 June 2012

	
	Mr Ken Lay APM
	1 July 2011 to
21 November 2011

	
	Ms Thérèse McCarthy
	1 July 2011 to
30 June 2012

	
	Professor Jenny Morgan
	1 July 2011 to
30 June 2012

	
	Ms Barbara Rozenes
	1 July 2011 to
30 June 2012

	
	Mr Gavin Silbert SC
	1 July 2011 to
30 June 2012

	
	Ms Lisa Ward
	1 July 2011 to
11 August 2011

	
	Ms Lisa Ward
	25 October 2011 to
30 June 2012

	
	Ms Kornelia Zimmer
	1 January 2012 to
30 June 2012


[91] Remuneration

Ministers and the Department

Amounts relating to Ministers are reported in the financial statements of the Department of Premier and Cabinet. Remuneration received or receivable by the Secretary in connection with the management of the Department during the period is reported by the Department of Justice.

Sentencing Advisory Council

Remuneration received or receivable by the Chairperson and Council Members in connection with their duties on the Council was in the range:

	
	Total Remuneration
	Base Remuneration

	
	2012
No.
	2011
No.
	2012
No.
	2011
No.

	$0–$9,999
	13
	12
	13
	12

	$10,000–$19,999
	1
	–
	1
	–

	Total numbers
	14
	12
	14
	12

	Total remuneration
	$41,238
	$25,681
	$41,238
	$25,681


Remuneration received or receivable by the Accountable Officer (Chief Executive Officer) in connection with the management of SAC during the reporting period was in the range:

	
	Total Remuneration
	Base Remuneration

	
	2012
No.
	2011
No.
	2012
No.
	2011
No.

	$150,000–$159,999
	–
	–
	1
	1

	$160,000–$169,999
	1
	1
	–
	–

	Total numbers
	1
	1
	1
	1


There are no executive officers other than the above.

Council members are appointed by Governor-in-Council order under sections 108F(1)(f) and 108F(2) of the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic) (the Act). Details of the appointment, including payment provisions, are contained in a schedule attached to the order. Council members, depending on their substantive employment, are eligible for remuneration according to section 108H(1)(b) of the Act and the schedule attached to the order appointing them. Remuneration of Council members is made in line with their Governor-in-Council appointment and Department of Premier and Cabinet guideline, Guidelines for the Appointment and Remuneration of Part-Time Non-Executive Directors of State Government Boards and Members of Statutory Bodies and Advisory Committees. During the 2011–12 financial year, 10 Council members were eligible for remuneration for their work on the Council.

[92] Related Party Transactions

A number of Council members are employed by the Department of Justice. During the financial year, SAC and the Department conducted business transactions at arm’s length and at normal commercial terms.

Other Transactions

Other related transactions and loans requiring disclosure under the Directions of the Minister for Finance have been considered and there are no matters to report.

Note 18. Remuneration of Auditors

	
	2012
$
	2011
$

	Victorian Auditor-General’s Office
	
	

	Audit of the financial statements
	13,000
	12,500

	
	13,000
	12,500


Note 19. Subsequent Events

Victorian Public Service Workplace Determination 2012

The Victorian Public Service Workplace Determination 2012 was made by Fair Work Australia on 23 July 2012, which replaces the 2009 Extended and Varied Version of the Victorian Public Service Agreement 2006. The Workplace Determination takes effect from 29 July 2012 and will remain in force until 31 December 2015. The Workplace Determination provides for wage increases of 3.25 per cent and 1.25 per cent on 1 July 2012 and 1 January 2013 respectively over 2012–13, with six monthly wage increases thereafter. A lump sum payment of $1,500 (or equivalent pro rata amount for part-time employees) will also be payable to eligible Victorian Public Service employees who received a salary on 1 July 2012 or were employed on 29 July 2012.

Other Subsequent Events

There were no other significant events occurring after the reporting date to be reported as at 30 June 2012 ($Nil – 2011).

[93] Note 20. Glossary of Terms and Style Conventions

Glossary

Borrowings

Borrowing refers to interest-bearing liabilities and are finance leases.

Commitments

Commitments include those operating, capital and other outsourcing commitments arising from non-cancellable contractual or statutory sources.

Comprehensive result

The net result of all items of income and expense recognised for the period. It is the aggregate of operating result and other non-owner movements in equity.

Depreciation

Depreciation is an expense that arises from the consumption through wear or time of a produced physical or intangible asset. This expense is classified as a ‘transaction’ and so reduces the ‘net result from transaction’.

Employee benefits expenses

Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, redundancy payments and defined contribution superannuation plans.

Financial asset

A financial asset is any asset that is:

(a)
cash;

(b)
an equity instrument of another entity;

(c)
a contractual or statutory right:

· to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or

· to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially favourable to the entity; or

(d)
a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is:

· a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to receive a variable number of the entity’s own equity instrument

· a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments.

Financial instrument

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Financial assets or liabilities that are not contractual (such as statutory receivables or payables that arise as a result of statutory requirements imposed by governments) are not financial instruments.

[94] Financial liability

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual or statutory obligation:

(a)
To deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or

(b)
To exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity.

Financial statements

Depending on the context of the sentence where the term ‘financial statements’ is used, it may include only the main financial statements (i.e. comprehensive operating statement, balance sheet, cash flow statements, and statement of changes in equity); or it may also be used to replace the old term ‘financial report’ under the revised AASB 101 (Sept 2007), which means it may include the main financial statements and the notes.

Interest expense

Costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds include interest on bank overdrafts and short term and long term borrowings, amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings, interest component of finance lease repayments, and the increase in financial liabilities and non-employee provisions due to the unwinding of discounts to reflect the passage of time.

Net result

Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. It is the net result of items of income, gains and expenses (including losses) recognised for the period, excluding those that are classified as ‘other non-owner changes in equity’.

Net result from transactions/net operating balance

Net result from transactions or net operating balance is a key fiscal aggregate and is income from transactions minus expenses from transactions. It is a summary measure of the ongoing sustainability of operations. It excludes gains and losses resulting from changes in price levels and other changes in the volume of assets. It is the component of the change in net worth that is due to transactions and can be attributed directly to government policies.

Net worth

Assets less liabilities, which is an economic measure of wealth.

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are all assets that are not ‘financial assets’. It includes plant, equipment and motor vehicles.

Other economic flows

· Other economic flows are changes in the volume or value of an asset or liability that do not result from transactions. It includes:

· gains and losses from disposals, revaluations and impairments of non-financial physical and intangible assets;

· fair value changes of financial instruments and agricultural assets; and

· depletion of natural assets (non-produced) from their use or removal.

In simple terms, other economic flows are changes arising from market remeasurements.

[95] Payables

Includes short and long term trade debt and accounts payable, grants, taxes and interest payable.

Receivables

Includes amounts owing from government through appropriation receivable, short and long term trade credit and accounts receivable, accrued investment income, grants, taxes and interest receivable.

Supplies and services

Supplies and services generally represent cost of goods sold and day-to-day running costs, including maintenance costs, incurred in the normal operations of the Council.

Transactions

Transactions are those economic flows that are considered to arise as a result of policy decisions usually an interaction between two entities by mutual agreement. They also include flows within an entity such as depreciation where the owner is simultaneously acting as the owner of the depreciating asset and as the consumer of the service provided by the asset. Taxation is regarded as mutually agreed interactions between the government and taxpayers. Transactions can be in kind (e.g. assets provided/given free of charge or for nominal consideration) or where the final consideration is cash. In simple terms, transactions arise from the policy decisions of the government.

Style Conventions

Figures in the tables and in the text have been rounded. Discrepancies in tables between totals and sums of components reflect rounding. Percentage variations in all tables are based on the underlying unrounded amounts.

The notation used in the tables is as follows:

	–
	zero or rounded to zero

	(xxx)
	negative numbers

	201x
	year period

	201x–1x
	year period


The financial statements and notes are presented based on the illustration for a government department in the 2011–12 Model Report for Victorian Government Departments. The presentation of other disclosures is generally consistent with the other disclosures made in earlier publications of SAC’s annual reports.
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